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The United States Armory is first among the most prominent points of interest
in Springfield and the citizens have always taken great pride in this great
national institution in their midst. To all visitors, the Armory buildings
are the first to claim attention. As one approaches the city from any dis-
tance, the arsenal, the largest building in the city and the tower with its
tall flag staff with Old Glory flying in the breeze, is the most conspicuous
-sight in view, :

~-Edward A, Hall, 1907

In short, the town has moulded the Armory and has by the Armory been moulded
in turn. To divorce them would be to sacrifice their joint history.

~--Derwent Whittlesey, 1920
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PREFACE

This study consists of a historic structure report's historical data
section and a historical base map. The data for both reports are combined in
one narrative. This arrangement is dictated by the history of Springfield
Armory. The Armory developed over the years since 1776 in a manner blending
construction of buildings, formal landscaping, and extensive terrain modifica-
tion. Hence the data necessary for both the structure report and the base map
belong together and are presented together. Illustrations showing the develop-
ment of the Armory are placed within the narrative as appropriate and net
grouped at the back of the study, as is more routine. Only the portion of the
Armory on the hill, today's national historic site, is examined in this study;
the water shops are not included.

This is the initial research document prepared by the National Park
Service for the site, although an earlier "Evaluation Under the Provision of
Historic Preservation Act of 1966" was accomplished in August 1967. This
excellent survey of the Armory identified the major historic structures,

‘included photographs of the most significant structures, and provided an

outline history of the site. This later study enlarges upon that evaluation.

As an initial document for a new park, this study provides some data for
interpretation, pending the completion of a historic resource study. These
facts, for the most part, are included as appendixes and will provide some
information for an interim interpretation program at the park.

Most of the data for this study came from three locations: The U.S.
National Archives, the U.S. Army Military History Research Collection, and
Springfield, Massachusetts. The composition of these collections is described
in the bibliography. At the National Archives, Dr. Elaine Everly has been as
helpful on this project as she has been on others in the past., Likewise John

Slonaker, -of the Army's Military History Research Collection at Carlisle

Barracks, Pennsylvania, has located many documents concerning Springfield
Armory and provided much sound advice on the research, as he has done on other
projects, At Springfield, Ellen Cote, on the staff of the local history
portion of the city library, and Curator Tom Wallace, at the Springfield
Armory, focused much time and energy on the gathering of data for this study
and deserve hearty thanks for their efforts.
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1777
1794

1801

1815

1820

1823

1824

1833

1833

1840

1841

1843

1845

1847

CHRONOLOGY OF. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

SPRINGFIELD ARMORY

Sprlngfleld serves as an avrsenal and workshop durlng the Revo-

lutionary War.

A National Armory is established by federal law at Sprlngfleld
Massachusetts.

The federal government gets the deed to the 1and at the Armory
site.

Roswell Lee, a colonel, assumes command as civilian superin-
tendent, and declares hls belief in a."Grand National Armory "

A map of this date shows the Armory to have ten shops and
fourteen dwelllngs The square already exists.

The 1823 1nspectlon report notes that the Armory presents "a
handsome and regular appearance "

Armory Square receives the name "Green" on the map.
New dwelling houses are begun for the master armorer and pay-

master at the west end of the Green. (These are Buildings 10
and 17.) : .

Roswell Lee Sprlngfleld’s flrst great super1ntendent dles

Evaluation of Springfield Armory is $209,161, and a total of
87 bulldlngs 46 shops, 8 storehouses, 33 dwelllngs '

Major James W. Ripley assumes command and remains an active-
duty military officer. Ripley begins a drive to improve
efficiency at the plant. -

Ripley begins an expan51on of grounds prior to his building
program

Work begins on the Commanding Officer's Quarters (Bulldlng 1.
Extensive landscaping begins as well.

Work begins on the Main Arsenal (Building 13). Building 1 is

complete. Grading continues. Plans begin for a permanent
fence. '
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1850
1853
1854 -
1864

1875

1876
1877-1882

1895

1897

1855
1962
1908

1913

1937

1940
1958

1968

Most of the major construction and grading have been conmpleted.
The fence, some landscaping, and some grading remain to be done.
The Green becomes "Tower Hill" about this time.

The inspection report that year takes fote of Ripley's improve-
ments citing a quality of "permancy and architectural per-
fection” at the site. ' '

Ripley departs.

The iron fence-is completed, the last of the Ripley brojects.
Tower Hill becomes "Union Square" either this year or the next.

The main gate is moved from its original location to the corner
of State and Byers Streets.

The gun display from the Centennial exposition at Philadelphia
is shipped to Springfield Armory, now called the National
Armory. ' '

During this period the Master Armorer’s Quarters are moved ta
their present location. Monument is emplaced south of the
Paymaster's Quarters. o

Building 17,Ithe Paymaster's Quarters, is moved away from its
location south of the Main Arsenal.

Water-powered elevator is installed in the Main Arsenal.

Union Square, so called as late as 1884, is labeled "Armory
Square" on a map, :

Greenhouses appear in gardens associated with Commanding
Officer's Quarters.

Gatehouse, Building 33, is constructed at State and Byers
Streets; Gate No. 2 is now on site of original gatehouse.

Sprinkler system is installed in Main Arsenal.

Master Armorer's Quarters repaired as WPA project. Building 18
Garage, is constructed.

3

Loading dock put into tower base, Main Arsenal.
Greenhouses removed about this time.

Playing fields cut into grounds near Main Arsenal and Command-
ing Officer's Quarters,

ix




CHAPTER I: THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE SPRINGFIELD ARMORY

Springfield Armory's long history began with the American Revolution. By
1777, on the sandy plain overlooking the Comnecticut River village of Spring-
fleld an arsenal for storage of weapons and a ''laboratory'--actually, a
workshop——functioned there.l The unusually level plain ended in a somewhat
abrupt bluff, long the site of springs, and was thus separated from the town
on the banks of the Connectlcut River valley below, The bluff was then, and
remains today, a prominent feature in Springfield's terrain.

. Unwanted by farmers,Z2 more ea%ily defensible than any surrounding areas,
and located with the growing cluster of firearms manufactories near the
Connecticut River, the site on which the Armory began its development, could
haydly have béen moré appropridte. The hill site has been occupied constantly
since 1777 by some sort of armory or arsenal activity. It has been a constant
factor in the 1life of the city a5 well as the sole occupant of the site. 1Its
presence on the commanding slope overwatching Springfield and its stylistic
impact on the city's public buildings are seen at the first glance of the
modern city and the Armory,? and is formally recognized in the seal of the city
of Springfield, which shows the Armory's Main Arsenal. '

Until 1794 the operations at the Armory were minimal and the buildings

~small and few in number. It was not until 1794 that a National Armory was

formally established, "per Act of Congress,' at Springfield, Massachusetts.?
State militia, not federal troops, defended the site when it was attacked in
1786 during the short-lived Shay's Rebellion. Between 1776 and 1794, arms
manufacturing and gunsmithing had developed into a prominent industry in the

1. James A. Huston, The Sinews of War: Army Logistics 1775~1953 (Wash-
ington, D.C,: Office of the Chief of Military History, U.S, Army, 1966),
p. 33; see also Derwent S. Whittlesey, "The Springfield Armory" (Ph.D. dis-
sertation, University of Chicago, 1920) Chapter I, for a discussion of early
Springfield Armory history. The dissertation copy used was apparently a
final draft and is on file at Springfield Armory.

2. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 3.

3. "Armory' was generally capitalized in both official and private
documents and will be so presented in this study. "Armory" referred to the
entire complex: hill shops, water shops, and middle water shops.

4, "Springfield Armory and Arsenal, Massachusetts,'" Record Group 94,
"Historical Information Relating to Military Posts and Other Installations,
ca, 1700-1900," Microcopy Mé61, roll 7, 1972, National Archives, Wash-
ington, D.C.



Connectlcut valley, and Springfield's potentlal as a site for a permanent
national arms manufacturing center had been recognized.

It was, in fact, the only location that Secretary [of War
Henry] Knox thought was completely satisfactory; moreover,
a number of gunsmiths, working individually on whatever
state or federal jobs they could get, already had séttled
there.5

However, the federal establishment of Springfield_Armory in 1794 remained-

curiously incomplete for seven more years. During that period, while manu-
‘facturing went on and while the site that housed the small federal complex
continued to serve as a-municipal training field for the local militia, the
town of Sprlngfleld still owned the land. The fire of January 23, 1801, which
destroyed the filling and stocking shop, established 2 need for replacing the
burned facilities. This brought about reconstruction plans that resulted in
the realization that the national government should, after all, own the land
its armory stood upon. Thus, the town and the federal government regularized
the marriage of grounds and buildings. On August 24, 1801, "'the Inhabitants
" of the Town of Springfiéld" conveyed "30 acres, 2 roods and 14 rods' to the
United States.f With the consummation of this transaction, Uncle Sam no
longer sat as a squatter at Springfield.

Work continued during the first and second decades of the nineteenth
century, and to meet changing production demands, buildings were constructed,
modified, ,or removed. The first graphic evidence of the site and its rather
complex collection of structures was on an 1820 map,7 and a few complementing
sketches of various buildings. The map reveals that a major industrial site
lay on the brow of the bluff (probably already known as "Armory Hill") over-

' looking Springfield. The "U.S. Manufactory'" shown on the map was comprised of .

5. Huston, S@news of Mzr, PP 93 94,

" 6. Hampshire County, Massachusetts records, liber 40, folio 216 as
cited in James B, McCrellis, Military Reservatioms, Natzonaz Military Parks,
and National Cemetevies. Titles and Records, prepared in the Judge Advocate's
Office (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1898); the statement
of title and jurisdiction in the McCrellis work is included in Appendix A.

A rood is 1/4 acre; a rod is 16.5 feet or 5.029 meters.

7. 'The map carries the caption "Armory Hill About 1810" and came from
the files of the Springfield Armory Museum. A copy on file at the local .
history collection of the city of Sprlngfleld Library carries an all ink
inscription "1807." - Neither is correct, since the map shows the phrase
“Col. Roswell Lee'" next to the commandant's house, now gone. Since Lee
assumed command in mid-1815, and his home was begun'after that, the map is
of that date or later. In 1816 Congress authorized six new arsenals (Huston,
Sinews, p. 114)., It dates between 1815 and 1821, the date of the next known
map. So until a better date is found, Map 1 carries 1820 as its date.




"(4 ol0u3003 99s) (zgr MOQY TTTH LIowxry T dep

g sy VoG




at least ten shop buildings and fourteen residences’ that averaged more than
two occupdnts per dwelllng :

The square--known today as "Armory Square"--was already delineated in
1820 although thé west end of the complex held none of the major structures
that were to later exist--the imposing Main Arsenal and the equally impressive
Commanding Officer’s Quarters. There were.three dwellings’ {and their out-
houses), the pay office, and the Armory schoolhousé. Most significant for.the
future of the site and for the shape of the Armory complex as it developed,
was that the parade ground had already been delineated; its major outlines
would not change. :



CHAPTER II: ROSWELL LEE'S "GRAND NATIONAL ARMORY"

4 . .

"~ Colonel Roswell Lee, who took command of the Armory . in mid-1815 and soon
bécame Mr. Roswell Lee serving as a civilian superintendent,l inherited an
industrial area large for its day. During the War of 1812 the "U.S. Manu-
factory™ of arms at Sprlngfleld and produced an average of about 10,000 mus-
kets per year. :

The buildings and grounds covered over 50 acres in 1815, and a certain
formality of design showed itself in the open square. A prominent flagpole
(sometimes still called "Liberty Pole'') rose at its center, surrounded by
substantial brick workshops, and wooden and brick dwelling houses for some of
the workers. Shortly after his assumption of command, Roswell Lée recognized
the budding grandeur of the site and announced his hopes for it. 1In a letter
discussing Sprlngfleld Armory and Harpers Ferry he noted good qualities of
both, but added, in bold printing showing in stark relief against the cursive
script, that Springfield Armory alone was '"the most eligible to stand for a
GRAND NATTONAL ARMORY,"3

Lee was in the vanguard of those who perceived that the Springfield
Armory was a complex that had to be developed as a2 unity to demonstrate the
evolving greatness of the mation. During the various Armory administrations
that followed, this theme remained constant despite the different personal-
ities involved and diverse approaches each new commander took. Lee's comment
on the "Grand National Armory' presaged this mysthue ‘and while Roswell Lee's
successors would apply it differently, each did act in accordance with the

concept.? In fact their application of this central theme is essentially the

story of the site.

1. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," pp. 7-8.
2. Huston, Sinewes of War, p. 106.

C o : _ '
3. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 120,

4. A few words about names are in order. It is generally accepted today
that an "armory" is a facility for the storage of weapons and instruments of
war and for training, and an arsenal often a manufacturing site for them.

When Franklin Roosevelt called for the United States to become an "“arsenal
of democracy," he used arsenal as meaning manufactory. But today the words
have little overall difference. - It was not always this way. Roswell lee's
predecessor argued that an arsenal was a place for storing arms and an
armory a place for manmufacturing them (see Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory,"
pp. 90-91}. It is in this context that the site at Springfield remained
{continued)



Roswell Lee's Grand National Armory is shown in detail on a series of.
maps dating from 1821.9 The central point of the complex was the "Liberty
Pole,” located in about the same place. as the flagpole is now. ' None of the
existing structures were yet on that part of the site that was destined to
become the Springfield Armory National Historic Site. The commanding of-
ficer's quarters were at the location now occupied by the Main Arsenal
(Building 13); two other residences, the schoolhouse and the pay office,
completed the collection of structures at the west end of the plain (the part
of the historic site that overlooks the town and that is bounded by the
bluff). _

A subsequent view of the site is provided by the following 1823 inspec-
tion report, completed two years after the map. It appeared in the. Amerlcan
State Papers and destribed a campusllke, sylvan scene.

At Spr1ngf1e1d in the. County of Hampden and Commonwealth
‘of Massachusetts, the United States have ‘an exten51ve 4
establishment for the manufacture of arms. 'The original
site of this manufactory has also a military post, which
is a perfectly level elevated plat, situadted about half a

- mile east of the village [of Springfield], from which there!
is a gradual ascent, flanked on the north by a deep ravine,
[remants of which remain north of the Commanding Officer‘s
Quarters] and on the south by a less considerable one,
[mostly obliterated by landscaping: just south of the Main

4. (continued) always an armory, whether it was called "the Armory at
Springfield," "The National Armory,' or any of its other titles., Somewhere: in
the name was always "armory,' never arsenal. And within the complex those
buildings used exclusively for housing arms beore the name '"arsenal." Since
"armory," meaning manufacturing complex, and "arsenal," meaning storage site,
were used consistently throughout Sprangfleld's hlstory, they are so used in
this work

5. "Armory at Springfield, Mass Elevations § Sectlons of the buildings

at scale 80':1"; Map of the land and buildings of the U.S. Armory at the Lower

Water Shops; scale 8 rods: 1"--at the Upper § Middle Water Shops ;~-of the
part situated on the Hill, Ground plan of the buildings at the Water Shops.
Author, R. Park. Date [1821]," RG 77, "Office of the Chief of Engineers,
Miscellaneous 1-2," NA, This lengthy citation refers to the entire set. The
two maps of interest currently carry the appropriate titles and are Maps 2 and
3 of this study. The date of these maps, while not seriously disputed,

not completely settled either. But, at least they postdate September 1821
During the lengthy "Ripley-Stearns'' dispute, which is described later in this
study, the original builder, in a letter published on February 1, 1844,
reported that the “building was commenced in October 1820 and finished in
September 1821' (scrapbook at Springfield Armory Museum). So, until addi-
tional evidence is forthcoming, the date for these maps stands at late 1821.




Arsenal] with an extensive plain spreading in the rear, the
adjacent parts being uncovered, fronting on the brow of the
declivity, and commanding an extensive and beautifully vari-
gated landscape.

Following that description, the author of the repert--an inspector from
the Ordnance Office in the War Department--discussed the buildings and their
arrangement, closing with a phrase now becoming familiar.

The aforesaid bu11d1ngs are arranged northerly of the great
State road leading to Boston, bordering on a large flat
square piece of ground, fended [not the current fence] and
set out with trees, around which is a Toad about 60 feet
wide, ledding to several dwelling houses occupied by the
officers and workmen; the whole assuming a handsome and
regular appearance..

On the whole, it is believed that there is not a situation
in the United States where arms can be made for a less sum,
and where so many important advantages combire, as renders.
this station eligible for a grand National establlshment .6

Lee's vision, captured by the official War Department report, was the
immutable core of Springfield Armory's development. It was the essential

~ element that determined the '"handsome and regular appearance" of the "grand

National establishment" and that was the constant factor, even as buildings
came and went and as the concept of landscaping changed through the years.
Strength, solidity, and an aura of national might would always show in its
features. It was from these components that the Armory?!s mystique arose, and
which still exists.

The immediate future saw some major site development. Early in the
spring of 1824 a fire struck, and Roswell Lee's response, when faced with the
burned remains, was to rebuild with brick structures.” An 1824 map shows
little overall change; presumably, it was prepared prior to the new spurt of
construction activity. Although this map reveals little that is new, it does

6. U.S., Congress, House Commlttee on Military Affairs, Armory at
Springfield, 17th Cong., 2nd sess , o, 246, March 23, 1823, np. 538-39.
The use of "grand National establishment" again probably reflects Roswell
Lee's considerable influence on the writer of the report. In the context of
its use above, it doubtless refers to the feeling among many involved with
arms productlon that the Springfield's roomy site permitted for greater

expansion than did the somewhat more crowded Harpers Ferry arms manufacturing
center,

7. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 139,
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provide a clear view of the armory grounds and buildings at the time. No
structures 1in existence mow had yet been built, but the outline of Armory
Square shows clearly, labeled as the "Green"--apparently the first formal
title applied to the plot.8 - The outline of the square is essentially what it
is toddy. ' In-'the center--attually just a bit north of center--sat the Liberty
Pole (it is not in the exact center of the square, and that is somewhat
surprising), It is in the same general area that all of the flagpcles have
been located for more than 150 years.

About 1825, Roswell Lee began to address landscaping problems as well.
The flat plain on which the hill shops and the Green sat was bounded, both
along State Street on the south and on the west along what would become Byers
Street, by a bluff. The area remained wet all year along the top and bottom
edges of the bluffs. On the bluff itself, numerous springs added to the
wetness, and "springtime erbsion of the sand produced unsightly gullies."?
Lee worked to ease the problem by grading and draining where necessary. His
efforts proved less than totally successful because some of the land was
privately owned. The gullies on the northwest corner of the Armory (to the
north and west sides of where the Commanding Officer's Quarters now stand)
kept eroding. But the initial large-scale attempt at dralnlng the field had
been made. More such efforts would come later.I0

Changes also manifest themselves on today's national historic site. As
seen on the map entitled "Armory Hill," additional lands have come into the
Armory’s control, specifically some of the land in-the northwest ravine.ll
The schoolhouse, on the north, now has an ell. The commanding officer’s

8. The central grassed area typical to most forts was generally called
a "parade.”" It is doubtful if such was ever the case at Springfield, which was
much more an industrial site with military overtones than a military site with
industrial aspects. The organization of buildings and grounds always focused
on the manufacturing mission of the complex. That the site manufactured
weapons for the Army and was, for most of its institutional llfe ‘commanded and
staffed partially by ordnance officers does not mean it was a mllltary post.
Its essential character began as a storage and manufacturing center and re-
mained so until its closure in 1968, :

‘9. Whittlesey, "Springfield, Armory," p. 146,

10, Ibhid.

11. This map, like many others within this study, has been taken from
the files of the Springfield Armory Museum. Drawn by 2nd Lieutenant T. B.
Linnard of the 2Znd U.S. Artillery and dated 1830-31, the map is rich in
detail. Thomas Beasley Linnard, a military academy graduate, was brevetted
2nd lieutenant in the 2nd Artillery on July 1, 1830, and died as a brevet
major on April 24, 1851, after having been brevetted twice for gallantry
against the "Fla Inds" in the Seminole War. He is probably the creator of

this map (see Francis B. Heitman, Historical Register and Dictionary of the
{continued)
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quarters show no change from their 1824 outllne but to the west of the
"frame dwelling houses" various ancillary- structures are now present. One,
labeled "P," is the Proofhouse, Loading Room, and . Inspectlon Room., - The. Pay-
mastér's Offlce labeled MU" and located near the present Byers and State
Streets entrance remalns the same as 1n 1824,

. The major change, which is immediately apparent, is that landscaping
appears on this map, the earliest map yet discovered which shows 1andscap1ng
The motif is formal, with the square bounded by evenly spaced trees placed in
a row, The Armory grounds along State Street have a neat row of evenly spaced
trees (probably emplaced after the 1825 grading made the slope more gentle).

Within Armory Square are four parallel rows of trees with an east-west orienta-

tion. These rows meet a perpendicular row of trees on a north-south axis. -
Within the north-south row of trees a different symbol appears on the map,

no doubt denoting a flagpole or liberty pole. Since this circa 1831 map shows
no new appellation for the square, it presumably retains the title Green, and
the pole the name "Liberty Pole.'" Overall, the complex of buildings lacked
the formality that they would obtain as new structures arose in the future.
Yet the 1831 map reveals a "handsome and regular appearance " and, in the main,
a balanced and formal regularity blending structures in straight 11nes and
parallel rows of trees in straight lines.. Few of the buildings shown in the
1831 map exist today--and none on the site of the portion comprlslng today's
park. Yet the style and the design concept on the 1831 map remains very much
alive mow, and functioned as a consistent factor throughout the developments
to follow. This was Roswell Lee's contribution to the Armory. His successor
once removed, Lieutenant Colonel James W. Ripley, initiated much of the con-
struction which remains today, and would earn a virtually undisputed historical
preeminence among the superintendents of the Armory. But dynamic and imagina-
tive as he was, Ripley worked from a strong design foundation laid by Roswell
Lee. Under Lee the square became a reality and landscaping began on a large
scale. The orderly rows of trees that mirrored the orderly rows of buildings
‘existed because Roswell Lee put them there. Ripley's work might not have
moved in the dramatic and imposing way it did had he not inherited Roswell
Lee's conception-of what a ''grand National armory" should be.

Lee's final 1mpr1nt on the physical aspects of the armory came in the
year of his death, 1833. That year he initiated the construction of two
substantial and graceful residences, flanking each side of the commanding
officer's quarters (now the site of the Main Arsenal) and facing the long
(east-west) axis.of the Green. Lee designated the north bulldlng as the

‘master armorer's re51dence, and the south for the paymaster.lZ? The two

11. (contlnued) United States Army, 2 vols. (1903; reprint ed., Urbana:
Unlver51ty of Illinois Press, 1965}, 1:634; it is not known what the "No 2"
which precedes '""Armory Hill" refers to on the imap, unless the Water Shops
‘appeared as Map No; 1 in a series as was the case of the 1821 maps .

12, The de51gnat10ns by name show on both 1864 and 1877 maps, cited in
ﬁﬂllmmrlntM5rmnahye
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structures, mirror-image twins and classic Greek Revival style residences,
remained for the rest of the century as imposing and stately balancing pieces
at the west end of the Green.I3 '

Ripley received the Armory almost unchanged from Lee's tenure, although
another superintendent's tenure came between the two., Lee had died at
Springfield on August 26, 1833,7¢ and was succeeded by an Andrew Jackson
political appointee, John Robb.

Robb's superintendency was ummarked by any great strides forward, save
for painting some of the buildings.l% One of Springfield Armory's chronicles
described the 1834 paint job:

A picturesque outlay in paint transformed the buildings on
- the hill to 'ordnance colors’ which may be assumed to be
the individual salmon shade still retained [in 1920] by the
older buildings in Armory square--a distinct architectural
asset, in their setting of green or white according to the
season with the contrast of blue sky.16 - '

Robb's administration saw & continued development of a tradition of
excellence in arms manufacturing as well as routine maintenance of buildings.
However, repairs proved necessary, as an inspector from the War Department
discovered in the fall of 1835, He reported that '"the dwelling houses are not
in good repair, several requiring small sums of money to be applied to that
object."?7 Small sums only were spent, if the poor conditions of the build-

ings only a few years later were reported accurately,

Even at that time, the Armory at Springfield included a considerable
number of structures, The evaluation of the property in Robb's last full
year as superintendent, 1840, stood at $209,161, not an unconsiderable sum
for the day. There were 86 buildings in all of which 46 shops, 8 storehouses,
21 "quarters paying rent," and 4 "rent free" quarters.i8

James Ripley inherited a large establishment, functioning weli, but not
in tip-top shape. Before the first year of his superintendency had passed,

13. A more detailed description and history of the buildings will emerge
in the succeeding chapters.

14. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 166.
15. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory,' p. 176.
16. Ibid., pp. 172-73.

17. Report of Inspection, October 31, to November 4, 1835, by Lt. Col.
George M. Talcott, RG 156, Entry 1003, NA,

18. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 173.
Y
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he put his mark oh the site;_ and during the thirteen years of 'his command at
the Armory he would direct the construction of most of which remains today
around Armory Square. '

18

o e e e O e owe weommowe we o s



CHAPTER ITI: THE SUPERINTENDENCY OF JAMES W. RIPLEY: "PERMANCY AND
ARCHTTECTURAL PERFECTION”

A. The Early Years

On April 16, 1841, Major James W. Ripley took command of the United
States Armory at Springfield. He remained until 1854, and during thirteen
years as superintendent, he directed a revitalization of the manufacturing

operations concurrently with a major construction program. Neither the tech-

nolagy nor the architecture of the Armory remained static during his tour in
office.

Connecticut born, West Point bred, a veteran of 1814
and of the Seminole Wars, afterward Chief of Ordnance dur-
ing the Civil War, Rlpley expressed in his persanallty the
quintessence of m111tary precision and discipline, vigorous,
assertive, stubborn, he undertook vast measures, carried
them through, and stood by them when they afterward needod
defence.l

Another writer poured an equal amount of praise on Rlpley and summed up
his major accomplishments as well

Lieut-Col James W. Rlpley was a thorough, practical, ener-

- getic officer, under whose administration the Armory, as
regards its efficiency, received an impetus so wholesome and -
“judicious, that its results will be perceived as long as arms
are manufactured. The Main Arsenal, the superintendent's
house, and the long storehouse were erected, the iron fence
around the grounds commenced, the grounds beautlfled and
otherwise improved during.his administration 2

R1pley s large view of what the U.S. National Armory at Springfield could
and should become resulted in changes even more dramatic than Roswell Lee's
significant improvements earlier in the century. Lee's work had brought about
the definition of the core of the complex, the Green. Lee had also begun a

process of locating buildings in a balanced and formal way. Even in the year

of his death, 1833, Roswell Lee had initiated the construction of mirror-image

homes for the master armorer and the paymaster flanking his own quarters.

These substantial Greek Revival brick homes formed the key elements of Ripley's

1. VWhittliesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 179,
2. Albert Harleigh Kirkham, "United States Armdry:' the Arsenals, Water-

Shops, Superintendents, Arms Statistics, and Anecdotes," King's Handbook of
Springfield [1884], p. 253,
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design plan for the complex. Rlpley devised-a grand cdncept of lands and
buildings (= notable achievement in itself) on: a site already aesthetically
organized by Roswell Lee. Thus, he built upon & visual concept.created by his
predecessor, In a sense, Ripley carried on Lee's work all theé while expanding
the magnitude of Lee's view and in constructing storehouses, shops, and
dwellings created a stately and majestic federal establlshment The Armory at
Sprlngfleld had a much different plan when Ripley left than when he arrived.

Major Rlpley reported his arrlval at Sprlngfleld in a typlcally straight-
forward manner.

Springfield'Armory
April 17th 1841 .

Sir, T arrived at this place on the evening of
the 15th inst. and on the following day entered on the
discharge of the duties assigned to me by your instruc-
tions of the 2nd of April.

Jas. W. Ripley
"Maj. of Ordnance

Col. Gedrge Bomford
Ordnance Department
Washington, D. c.3

Presumably, the Armory was functlonlng well enough upon Ripley's arrival,
and while the buildings needed some repairs, Springfield Armory appeared neat -
and clean. The officer who was sent from the office of the Chief of Ordnance
at the War Department to 1nspect the Armory in 1841 reported that

the police of the place is unobjectionable. There is an
-abundance of open space about the buildings, the ground

is easily drained and care is taken to keep thlngs very

clean,?

H6wever pfoblems existed, too. Lieutenant Colonel Talcott reporééd that
- the' "Superlntendent s House requires to be slated and furbished up.’” Likewise
many of the wooden dwellings were "'very old and require[d] extensive repa1rs "5

3, Derwent F. Whittlesey, compiler, "Extracts from Original Sources Made
for the Purpose of Writing a Thesis on 'A History of Springfield Armory,'"
7 vols, (original typed manuscript, Springfield City Library, Springfield,
Massachusetts), 6:75 (hereafter cited as "Extracts").
H . ’ :
4. Report of Inspector, Lt. Col. George Talcott, December 16-23, 1841,
RG 156, Entry, 1003, NA. ' -

- Ibid.
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R1§1éy also noted some deficiencies. In 1841, 2 féw months after taking
command, the energetic major asked for $1,500 for "Improv1ng grounds," noting
that ‘ .

1ittle has been done for many years in the way of improv-
ing the grounds about the armory, and their appearance is
anything but creditable to the establishement. They re-
quire to be extensively renewed, shade trees planted, gul-
lies and holes filled in.6
_ ‘ /
Ripley's request for money to improve the grounds meant little, for the Ordnance
Department soon found itself facing an austere budget, reflecting a parsimonious
Congress. In additiom, Talcott's comments in his 1841 inspection report, that
the "ground is 33511y drained,” c¢ame in December in plenty of time for Riplev's
October 29 plea to reach Washington and Talcott. So James Ripley's first
attempt to beautify the grounds came to naught. But it was just as well, for

‘Springfield Armory's cause c&l@bre was about to manlfest itself, and it was to

focus on the new military superintendent.

The great dispute rested on a three-part foundation. A long-festering
dispute over the question of whether a military or a civilian superintendent
better administered the Armory formed one part of the controversy about to -
arise. Religion provided a second element. Ripley had come from command of
Kennebec Arsenal (to the east in Massachusetts) and many of his Irish immigrait
{and Roman Catholic} workeérs had followed. This interjection of Catholics
into Protestant Springfield had not rested comfortably with the local populace.
Finally, the actions of the Armory's new commander produced some immediate
economic effects in the town, and when this third element began to show itself,
the other two coalesced and the fight was on.”

The controversy started because of a shortage of funds. In May 1842 the
Ordnance Department suggested to Ripley that he close the shops and renovate
the facilities with funds on hand for that purpose. The major kept some.
shops open but did discharge forty workers., In August Ripley shut down the
entire plant for repairs. By November the facilities reopened, with Major

6. Ripley to Col. George Bomford, Chief Ordnance, October 29, 1841, as
cited in Whittlesey, "Extracts," 6:69.

7. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," pp. 181-90, contains the clearest
view of the many convolutions of events and arguments otherwise known as the
Ripley-Stearns dispute; other relevant works are Thomas Wallace, '"Portrait
of an Ordnance Officer" (Springfield: Springfield Armory Museum, n.d.),
available at the museum, and Edward A. Hall, "The Catholic Lot on the Armory
Grounds" (printed address, first delivered to the Connecticut Valley His-
torical Association on January 15, 1907); this is on file at the Springfield
City Library in the Genealogy and Local History collections.
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Ripley now "commandant," and no longer "superintendent,'8 One questior of the
three had heen settled—-the Armory would be run by a m1‘1tary officer, now
carrying tHe title of commandant. That alone would havé been enotigh to o
rankle local sensibilities. But the new commandant, firmly ensconced in his
position, moved toward much needed efficiency and reopened the plant without
those léss-thah-productive workers and troublemakers who had come to the plant
during the preceeding years of civilian superintendency : :

« Ripley's action began a chaln of events that brougnt a second. protavonlst
into the action. A local real estate developer and builder, Charles Stearns,
was developing 1and near the Armory, and when the houses of the workers fired.
by Ripley came up for sale, Stearns saw a potentlally profltable market go
into a mild depression.

Stearns was apparently as determlned to stop Rlpley S actlons as. Rlpley
was to continue them. The two yielded nothing over the years to come, and
each, supported by strong partisans, engaged in a feud that carried on for all
of Rlpley s tenure at Springfield. -

The antl—Rlpley factlon wasted little time. In December 1842 and January
1843, three fires broke out in Armory buildings; two were arson. In January
Stearns traveled to Washington to intercede with the War Department and stop
Ripley's reforms, as.well as to lobby for the return of a civilian superin-
tendency to Springfield Armory. .Presumably, a civilian superintendent would
have restored the halcyon days of the recent past before Ripley's efficiency
program ended a situation where

many workers either had been at the armory so long or were
so confident of their political pull they no longer felt

it necessary to put in a real day's work for the taxpayer's
checks they drew. The whole situation-was one in which
local pOllthlanS con51dered the armory their personal
plum.9

Little resulted from Stearns' first Washington visit. In mid-April of 1843 a
mass meeting of Stearns' supporters complained of Ripley's reforms, and of the
“intrusions of the Irish-Catholics into the town. The focus of their discon-
tents rested on Commandant Ripley of Springfield Armory.

© By July the Sterns faction had become agitated enough to send him to
Washington again. There, his efforts resulted in an investigation of Ripley's
reforms by Secretary of War James M. Porter. The Secretary heard the complaints
of the Stearns faction and reports from Ripley’s supporters. Porter’s investi-
gations exonerated Ripley, and the Secretary of War decided the dispute in

8. War Department Regulation of October 1, 1842, Document no. 207, as cited
in Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory,' p. 182; by 1844 all arsenals and the
Armory would have military commanders. Huston, Sinews of War, p. 115.

9, Wallace, "Portrait of an Ordnance Gfficer,” p. 3.
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Ripley's favor. For the moment, Stearns retreated., But the two would meet
again the next year. :

The remainder of 1843, however, passed calmly enough. And between rounds
in the Ripley-Stearns fight a visitor appeared at Springfield Armory. The
Reverend James Abbott described the Armory at some length commenting. on
buildings and grounds.

. The principal bulldlngs of the armory are situated upon
another plain, which extends back from this elevated land
[downtown Springfield] at the distance of perhaps half a
mile from the river. The buildings are very large and
handsome and are arranged around the sides of a spacious .
square which is ornamental with walks and rows of trees.
The effect is one of appearing like the buildings of a
college. There was one edifice in the center of the
principal front of the square which had a cupola upon it,
as if it were a chapel. This was the office and counting

~house. The other buildings were shops and storehouses.

On one side was a long row of houses which were used for
the residences of the officers and others connected with
the armory. From this central square, streets diverged in
every direction over the plain which were bordered in -small,

- but very neat and pleasant houses for the workmen. These
houses were ornamented with trees and shrubbery and sur-
rounded with pleasant yards and gardens. The whole scene
presenged on every side, a very pleasant prospect to the
view.l

The scene did indeed present a serene and campuslike view, as it had almost
from the beginning of Springfield Armory's history. Although the Reverend
Abbott did mot perceive that much needed to be done to the Armory in the way

"~ of phy51cal improvements, James Ripley did, and he moved to correct the abuses

not ‘long after Abbott's visits.

The major's first action came at his own home, The commandant's quarters
had-been inspected in 1843 and were found to require complete reconstruction.l?

10. "Marco Paul's Travels and Adventures: The Springfield Armory,"
dated 1843, as quoted in Christopher L. Dvarecka, "History of Springfield
Armory," U.S., Congress, House, Conqresszonal Record, 89th Cong., March 14-
17 and 21, 1966, pt. 5:5832. The parson's comment, "rows of trees,' proves
that the formal approach to lands¢aping existed in 1843. Before too much
longer, the motif had changed to a more relaxed and informal arrangement of
trees, but the exact date of the transition is unknown.

11. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 181.
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Ripley had decided to concentrate his 1mprovements on the hill area, as

opposed to the water shops, at this time, and as his first step, tore the
 commandant's quarters down. Stearns, who had had a hand in building Colonel
Lee's house, responded with fury. Apparently, Stearns saw the tearing down of
the house as a ploy by Ripléy to put 2 blot on Stearns integrity. Along -
with Ripley's actions affecting the house came moves to improve -

the hill grounds. In brief these plans comprised the pur-
chase of additional lands on the north and west of the gov-
ernment buildings on the hill, grading and planting the

; tract, laying out roads around margins of it, fené¢ing the
remaining ground and construction of new bulldlngs on a
comprehensive scale.l2 -

The renewed dlspute soon brought old allies back together and, as before,
saw lengthy attacks by each side upon the other appearing in Sprlngfleld’
Daily Post and Republican newspapers.l3 Stearns.trotted out the original
‘builder, one S. Sanborn, and in a letter to the editor, he had Sanborn de-.
scribe the house and testify to its solidity, inferring that Ripley had no
reason to tear it down.Z? An undaunted Ripley pressed on with his program.

By ;early 1845 the site of the new commandant's quarters had been selected and
the excavations for the cellar begun. -Ripley continued to purchase lands near
the shops [land in and near today S park)

“Inevitably, Stearns moved to block. the commandant's ambitious plans. . His
~ method contained a timely element of irony. It concerned that new element in
Sprlngfleld society that arrived with Major Ripley--the Irish Catholics. The
Catholic infusion from Kennebec Arsenal into Protestant Springfield had been a
major element in the early stages of the Ripley-Stearns dispute. Charles
Stearns must have enjoyed a sense of quiet satisfaction when,; for a very
moderate price, he offered a choice spot of land to the Catholic congregation
as the site for a new church. Because the site for the Catholic church lay in
the identical area that Ripley had hoped to use for the expansion of the
Armory, Stearns felt that he had blocked the major's expansion plans--and with
the added satisfaction of having used Ripley's own people against him.

But the major, as Stearns should have expected, made.a courtermove.
Laying claim to a major portion of the street leading to the "Cdtholic lot,"”
as the site was now called, Ripley built a fence across most of the street,
effectively blocking off access for teams and ‘wagons. Stearns and his sup- -
porters (it was presumed) tore the fence down. Ripley rebuilt it, and again
it came down. Sometime, amidst the erections and dismantlings of the fence,

12. Ibid., p. 189.
13, Hall, "The Catholic Lot," p. 218.

14. Charles Stearns to Edltor [Daily Post? Republican?], Pebruary 1,
1844, in newspaper scrapbook, Springfield Armory Museum, p. 9.
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Ripley pressed charges against Stearns for criminal trespass and Stearns stood
trial in federal court. Acquitted, he sued Ripley for trespass and won. By
the time the legal actions had been executed, however, the Catholic congrega-
tion had decided that the status of pawn in the battle of wills between Spring-
field's two most determined fighters was hardly pleasant. Casting their lot
with the man who provided their sustenance, they sold the Catholic lot to th
government and began their church at.a new location.I5 :

Within a year Ripley would be investigated by a military court of inquiry
but exonerated. By 1848 he would be promoted to lieutenant colonel, an award
for exceptional Mexican War services.i6 The feud remained, but the work went
on throughout Ripley's tenure.l? To appreciate the scope of that work, it is
necessary to return to 1845, :

B. The Bﬁilding Years

The major effort began in 1845 and continued to 1854, the year of Ripley's
departure. But even before 1845, Major Ripley had laid the foundation for
future development by drafting plans and by his efforts to. convince his
Washington superiors of the need for new construction. As early as 1842, for
example, the commandant had requested a new set of quarters to house the
commanding officer of the facility, arguing that '

The Paymasters, Mastor Armorers and the four houses for

the Clerks have all been built since 1834 and are of

more modern construction: than the present quarters for

the Supt., The latter occupies the most central and con-

.spicuous place and should be at least equal in point of
., architecture with any of the Public Houses.18

The major's concern.that the "central and conspicuous" quarters blend
architecturally with the other major dwellings demonstrates how important
‘aesthetic considerations were to him. It is remarkable that James Ripley,
living with the never-quiet dispute with Stearns, and conceiving and executing
his design for grandeur at Springfield, couild also manage to find time and
energy to increase the efficiency of the industrial plant as dramatically as
he had changed the physical plant and terrain. 5

15. Hall, "The Catholic Lot,'" pp. 221-23.

16, Wallace, '"Portrait," pp, 2-4.

17. Hall, in "The Catholic Lot," p. 218, compared Shay's Rebellion,
another controversy involving the Arimory, to the Ripley-Stearns dispute.
Quite aptly he called the rebellion "a stately minuet as compared to the long
series of ructions as to whether the United States Armory should be under civil
or military control."

18, Whittlesey, ”Extracts,” 6:66,
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By early June 1845, much had begun. Two outbulldlngs assoclated w1th
the old commanding off1cer s quarters had been moved "to the north side of
the square and fitted for tenements." The cellar for the new commandant's
quarters had been dug, and the land had been purchased from the Catholic
congregation in April. The extensive grading at the site had started.l9
That same year a 30,000 gallén cistern had been excavated between the new
and old commandlng offlcers' quarters (the brick-lined structure was topped
with an iron cap. The cap remalned in place until at least 1920) 20

. By the fall of 1845 constructlon had begun on the_new home'for Spring-
field Armory's commander. The work could continue until at least mid-1847.21
As the new structure rose, the major looked west and north of it, to the '
ravine and slopes owned by a local railroad. Ripley's grounds improvements--
at this site, grading--impinged on the railroad's reservoirs and fountains
there and the railroad threatened to seek an injunction against the major.Z22
Ripley responded by planning to purchase the tract

- The next year was one of the busiest in the ‘history of Springfield
Armory to that time. War with Mexico came and with it increased production
at the Armory. From July 1846 until July 1847, Springfield produced "14,300
muskets complete, spare parts equal to 1,000 muskets, tools, and other
items."?8 The pace of building and plant expansion kept up with the vigorous
- mahufacturing. Beginning in 1846 the city widened State Street and realigned
it slightly, facilitating grading and adding a little land to the Armory.
With this land and the land on the major slope--the west end’ of the Armory—~
in government ownersh1p by 1847, plans for a fence began.24

Although 1847 marked the end of Rlpley s expan51on of the Armory as far
as land purchases were concerned, a major construction progect was initiated,
the Main Arsenal (Building 13) Cellar excavations for the Main Arsenal began

19. Ibid., 6:27
20. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 196.

21. Purchase orders, Form 15, found in Record Group 217 and dated March
and June 1847 testify to thlS

22.  "Geo Bliss, Pres W[estern] Rallroad Corporation' to Rlpley, Octo-
ber 30, 1845 c1ted in Whlttlesey,_"Extracts," 6:23.

23.: Huston, Sinews of War, p. 195.

 24. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 195.
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early that spring, probably as soon as the ground thawed enough to permlt
it.2s Besides the excavations for the Main Arsenal, the grounds continued
to undergo change. A new wooden fence bounded the newly acquired lands. A
road along the north side of the square was opened, and grading accomplished.
Portions of the grounds just graded were '"turfed," the phrase probably re-
ferrlng to plantlng grass seed. 26

The Armory must have presented an unusually active appearance in 1847.
The plant's staff remained busy and at full complement, making weapons for
the Army engaged in the war with Mexico. Wagons and teams plied the grounds
of the Armory, carrying soil from excavations in and around the arsenal (now
Building 13) and the commandant's gquarters (now Building 1). Crews worked on
the grounds as well, laying walks and roads; filling in gullies; terracing the
west slope; plantlng trees, shrubs, and gTass.

Surviving records suggest that the commanding officer's quarters required
most ""finishing up" and exterior work by 1847. Purchase orders for ''slat- .
ing'' and "Orcutt's patent llghtnlng conductors™ are typical of items 1nv01v1ng
the structure late that spring and early in the summer,27

Nearby, work progressed on the new arsenal (now Building 13), and was
probably started in late sprlng, with the building's impressive dimensions
apparent by late 1847.28 " Its length, 198 feet, and width, 60 feet, combined
with its position between the master armorer's and the paymaster's houses to
make this building one of the most imposing in the entire complex. While it

25. A bill submitted to Major Ripley dated June 30, 1847, noted use of
"2 Horsés § Waggons, Carting Loam 37 1/2 days @ $2.75 From Cellar of New
Arsenal $103.13" (RG 217, NA, copy at SPAR). Some speculation concerning
building at Springfield Armory is warranted at this point in the story. Could
it be that Major Ripley, carrying his vision of grandeur and efficiency for
the Army, shrewdly took advantage of the obvious needs of the army fighting
the Mexican War to execute his plan for Springfield? With large orders coming
in for armaments, surely the commander of the national armory was in an ex-
cellent position to seek funds for plant improvement. Possibly the spurt of
building at Springfield had no comnection to increased governmental spending
for ordnance and weapons manufactured at Springfield; probably it did.

26, U.S., Congress, Senate, "Springfield Armory-—Commanded by Ma;or
Ripley,” 30th Cong., 2nd sess,, Executlve Document 14, p. 350.

7. . Record Group 217, Form 15, purchase order, Springfield Armory, NA;
dates of the various purchase orders, all on file at the Springfield Armory
Museum, are March 24, June 24, June 28, and June 30. They generally use the
phrase "commanding officer's guarters," or an abbreviation of that phrase. It
is safe to assume that both that phrasc and "commandant's quarters' were in
common use.

28, Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 196,.
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would not be finished for about three years, it already showed promlse of belng
a visual focal point at the Armory

Yet another structure was begun in 1847, the iron fence. The fence _
served both utilitarian:and symbolic purposes, and its construction reflected
the events and circumstances of Ripley's temire at Springfield Armory. 1In his-
administration, threats upon the Army establishment had been levied from time
to time, and assaults against the.facilities had occurred .af least twice (w1th
the arson cases of 1845). The major obviously had to ensure that the
United States property at the site was protected., This Major Ripley had done
by erectlng picket or board fences along the Armory boundaries. They prov1ded
some protéction, of course, but hardly served to complement Ripley's vision of
grandeur for the site.  What was needed was a fence both functional and in
keeping with the grandeurs of the ever entarging military and industrial site
on Armory Hill. Ripley had blended practical needs and aesthetic ones since
his arrival, and he had received no little eriticism for this approach. For
example, ' : I

the embellishments of the new arsenal and the Commandant's
quarters [had] caused reference to be made to his 'spac1ous
rep051tor1es' and his 'magnlflcent mansion,'28

- Some of the land Ripley had purchased could never be used for buildings,
roads, or storage throughout his Springfield Armory career. - Some of these
purchases could be defended on practical grounds. On the land to the west of
the new arsenal, for example, springs occurred almost all the time, and the
area's steepness increased the downward flow of water,; causing easily and
frequently cut gullies on the slope. With this land purchased and then graded,
the gullying was eased considerably, protecting the new arsenal and the com-

- mandant's house near the edge of the bluff. Thus, Major Ripley could argue -
that the work had to be done. Yet he must also have taken considerable sat-
isfaction from the aesthetic elements of solving the problem of gullying on
the slope, providing more room for trees and grass to enhance the new build-
ings. . :

Any arguments Ripley might have brought out to buttress some of his other
aesthetically oriented actions might not have been so strong. While his
extensive planting of shade trees and laying of flagstone walks, for example,
could not easily be justified as utilitarian, these actions which Came along
with Ripley's grand building projects from 1845 to 1850 did at least follow a
precedent

But with the fence, other overtones came into play. The tensions that
existed in the Protestant town of Springfield in regard to Ripley's Roman
Catholic employees made it wise for the commander to consider the merits of
erecting a substantial fence. Obviously, security for the mass of arms stored
at Springfield Armory would likewise always remain a major consideration.

29. Ibid., pp. 197-98.
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There would have to beé a sturdy and effective fence erected, Ripley and others
must have reasoned. But could the mission of protection blend with the

~aesthetic demands of the siteé, which was rapidly becoming more beautiful as

the Ripley buildings went up, the trees were planted, and the open areas
‘seeded? ' : o

- Ripley's answer to this question and his response to the challenges °
posed by the need for adequate fencing fit exactly with his actions to date

- at Springfield. He began to implement the plan for fencing in 1847. On

August 16 Commandant Ripley leased a nearby quarry and began drawing stomne
for the foundation of an iron picket fence. Initial efforts went into the
fence along State Street, a major thoroughfare. The stone base consisted of

~ strong red sandstone, native bedrock from Longmeadow, about four or five miles

from Armory Hill. The pickets--or perhaps as more appropriately named in
metal fences, pales--rose to nine feet to form an impressive, solid, and
martial-looking fence for the Springfield Armory.30

Two forms of paling, round with spear heads and slightly
lobed with pikes beads, alternate. The gates are more
intricately patterned, with oval center sectioms sur-
rounded by lacy ironwork enclosing the palings. The al-
ternating spear and pike motif is carried dcross the gate
crestings. Square sandstone posts with glyphs below
molded cornices capped by low square blocks support the
gates. 51 ‘

However, the design for the pickets took longer than the construction .of
the stone base, and the actual casting of the pales did not come immediately.
In fact, not until May 1852 did the patterns for the pales and gate receive
Ripley's approval.8Z From then until the Civil War, the casting of fence
poles came in two spurts, and Ripley did not get to see the entitre fence
completed during his tenure.

The five-year period beginning with 1845 had seen a considerable amount
of change on Armory Hill. The square had been planted, buildings erected,
and the fence that still surrounds the facility begun. By June 1849, the
changes and plant improvements began to appear in official reports. The War
Department's Annual Report noted that '"the new arsenal is rapidly progressing.
The walls nearly ready for roofing."3é The routine Ordnance Department in-

spection report for 1849 also proclaimed that

30, Ibid.
31. sSarles, Evaluation, p. 29.
32. Ibid., p. 198.

33. U.S., Congress, Senate, "Springfield Armory--Commanded by Major
Ripley,'" 30th Cong., 2nd sess,, 1847-1848, Executive Document 14, p. 350.
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- the condition of the Armory at ‘this place .is commendably
prosperous and reflects great credit upon the Comd Of-
‘ficer. ; The opposition that formerly prevailed agalnst
some of the workmen toward what was called "Military
rules" has, it appears entirely passed away and has been
replaced by good will and confidence. :

® %

The publlc grounds are all [dra1ned7 word unclear] and
much improved in appearance. An excellent system of g
police being established through[out} them as through[out]
the shops and other buildings.3d4 ,

Colonel- Craig's report also addressed the new arsenal, descr1b1ng the
bulldlng in its last stages of constructlon

A large storehouse for arms is now ready for reception
of the Gun Racks, which are being prepared, and will
soon be in a condition to receive the Arms. The building
is of very imposing appearance, well imagined and. jud-
iciously planned. and-located. It is 200 feet by 68 ft.

is three stories high, and built throughout in ﬁhe best
manner. A clock has just been placed in the tower of
this burldlng 35 : :

Throughout this period of intense construction at the Armory, some build-
ings came down, among them the old commandant's quarters at the site of the
new arsenal. Most of these structures had come 'into federal ownership as
houses on plots of land purchased for the Armory's expansion. Workers at the
Armory often moved into them, and they served as dwellings until they became
too, costly to maintain., At that time the buildings would come down, and any
good materials in them would be used at the Armory or sold. This happened
during the periocd of active building at the Armory between 1845 and 1850 and,
like the new buildings themselves and the landscaping, helped to transform the
Armory at Springfield con51derab1y 36

The 1850 portion on Springfield Armory in the Secretary of War's annual
report summed up the considerable grading and grounds 1mprovements at the site
that had taken place in the: precedlng four years.

The grading and embankments have been continued
north of the new storehouse [Building 28] and west of

34, Report.of Iﬁspéction,June 15, 1849, RG 156, Entry 1003, NA.
35, Ibid. |

30. Whittlesey, "Extracts,'" 6:19-20,
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the new arsenal. About 80,000 cubic yards of earth have.
been removed, for filling ravines. and forming embankments,
north and south of the new storehouse.

A road has been graded and gravelled from the steam shop,
parallel with the filing and finishing shops, [in the
area now part of Springfield Technical College] to the
east arsenal; length 790 feet, width 11 1/2 feet,

A walk has been completed across the south side of the
square, parallel with and north of the arsenals, length
941 feet; width 5 feet.

A large culvert has been completed on the east side of
the new arsenal and parallel with it; [probably at the
rear of Building 131 also four smaller culverts; the whole
to conduct the water from the new arsenal and adjacent
grounds., Total length 2,142 feet.

About 9,000 superficial yards of sodding have been laid
around the new. arsenal and on the embankments north of
the new storehouse :

Sixty rods of high board fence have been built on the
southwest corner of the pgovernment land, and 38 1/2 rods
of picket fence built, and repaired, for enclosing the
new arsenal.

’Thé new arsenal, too, merited mention in the 1850 report. As of early
1850 the exterior had been finished and inside work was well under way.

The tower and roof of the new arsenal have been fin-
ished; the cellar paved; exterior of the walls oiled;
and the building secured by good copper electrical con-
ductors. The lathing and plastering of this building
have been completed, amounting to 9,000 superficial
yards. The arsenal is now ready for ‘the racks, which
are in rapid progress.37

The rest of 1850 and early 1851 saw more of the finishing-up work being
completed. The iron fence had not yet been begun, and work would go on until
1864. Indeed, for most of Ripley's remaining years at Springfield Armory
there would be no iron pales, On June 8, 1850, Ripley began the process of
making the iron pales when he asked ”Messrs Cyrus Alger § Co. of Boston"

37. U.S., Congress, Senate, "Springfield Armory--Commanded by Lt. Col.
Ripley," 31st Cong., lst sess., 1849-1850, Executive Document 14, pp. 362-63.
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for terms on casting the 1ron pales for the new fence.38 But the work would
- not commence for a great while. .

~ Along with attention to fence pales, the commanding officer tidied up
the property lines a bit in 1850 and 1851, and by purchasing a "spring of
water" settled a dispute with the Western Railroad that had surfaced as the
big construction pTOJGCt had begun. 89 A few minor landscaping actions also
needed finishing, along with other "finishing up" pro;ects on the grounds, By
midyear 1850, Ripley reported that

about 46,000 cubic yards of ‘earth have been removed for
filling ravines north of the New Store House and nearly
600 superf1c1al yards of sodd1ng have been 1a1d

The side walks on the North, South, & West of the
Square have been paved with flagglng stone,: consumlng
17,205 superficial feet.

* - % %

Street lamps have been erected around the principal
square. .

The large reservoir north of the Machine Shop is so

far completed as to admit to being filled with water. It
will contain over 200,000 gallons, affording an abundant.
~supply of water in case of fire.40 i

© . About that time paving with flagging stone of some walks associated with
shops began. Along the flagstone walks recently constructed around the

square, workmen laid "a gutter of brick and cement' on those sidewalks border-
ing the "north and west sides of the public square,'" a distance of 590 yards.4l

_ Slmultaneously, the 1nter10r work on the new arsenal proceeded The
gun racks for the second floor were completed in 1850. These vacks could hold
92,176 muskets, and almost immediately, Armory workers brought in 66,981
percussion muskets from the east arsenal for storage.?2 As carpenters built

38. Whittlesey, "Extracts," 6:118,

39. U.S8., Congress, Senate, "Report of the Chief of Ordnance,'" in Annual
Report for the War Department for the Fiscal Year PEnded June 30, 1851 ‘p. 456;
Whittlesey, "Extracts,'" 7:113.

40. Whittlesey, "Extratts," 7:117,

41. Chief of Ordndnce Report, 1851, p. 456.

42. Whittlesey, "Bxtracts," 7:116.
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racks for the third floor, painters continued interior work in 1850 and 1851.43

In June 1851 the work on the gun racks on the third floor was 'in progress and

advancing toward completion.”44 8o, by late 1851 the major building¥ thdt remain
- today had been built and much of the grounds design had beéen accosplished.

Two maps appeared that year, one bearing the date 1851 and & more
detailed topographical and site map dated "Nov 1851.'" The appearance of these
two documents in 1851 could hardly have been accidental, No doubt the major
changes which had been accomplished by then merited changes in existing maps.
The wore detailed map may have been prepared for use by the staff at Spring-
field Armory, since it appears to be so drawn that it would facilitate check-
ing of parcels of land, building sites, and locations. These maps provide the
earliest view of Springfield Armory as changed by direction of Lieutenant
Colonel James W. Ripley. They merit careful examination.

C. The Armory .in- 1851

The two 1851 maps show a great deal about the newly enlarged industrial
site.45 1In fact, their overall impact may be more instructive than the many
individual pieces of information they contain. A formal and spacious complex
is displayed on Map 7 illustrating, for the first time, the Ripley improve-
ments.46 The buildings and grounds blend to compose an impressive complex.
What is displayed on the map is the "system of improvement" as Ripley himself
called it: not one building and not an isolated piece of landscaping over in
a corner of the grounds, but a "system of improvements." (A major part of
Ripley's "system of improvements' concerned manufacturing efficiency at the
Armory. That portion of the history of Springfield Armory, however, is not
covered in this study,) The 1851 maps present primarily the modern dimensions
of Springfield Armory National Historic Site. Even though two dwellings shown
on these maps are no longer there, the two largest structures remain prominent
today, and the 1851 site very much resembles the 1977 site.

The map entitled'”Springfield Armory in 1851," by Smith and Jones -

(Map 6), carries a new title for what earlier maps call the Green. It is now _

"Tower Hill," undoubtedly inspired by the tower on the new arsenal. Tower

Hill, it can be seen, is divided into four sections by walkways about where
they are today., Parallel with the long axis of Tower Hill are four parallel
rows of trees in a highly formal landscaping arrangement., This arrangement
follows that shown on the 1831 map. But in those portions of the park which

came into the Armory during Ripley's tenure, the landscaping is quite different.

43. Ibid., 6:2.
44. Ibid., 7:108,

45. Map 6 shows the section of the Smith and Jones 1851 map of Spring-
field, Massachusetts, that includes the Armory.

46, Map 7, the Butler 1851 map, shows the Armory in detail.
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Map 6. Springfield Armory, 1851, as shown on "Map of Springfield,
Massachusetts, Surveyed and Drawn by Marcus Smith and H.A., Jones,"
published by M. Drips, No. 103 State Street, N.Y., 1851.-
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The grounds west of the square, on which the new arsenal and commanding
officer's quarters sit, have much more natural and informal arrangements of
trees. This information might well reflect the naturalistic and informal
concepts of landscaping then developing and strongly contrasted with the
formal gardens which, prior to this time, had had prominence in landscape
design. So in the formality and orderliness of the parallel rows of trees on
Tower Hill, Ripley carried out the aesthetic concepts of his predecessors, '
principally Roswell Lee. In the naturalistic arrangements west and north, he
reflected the more fashionable ideas of his time. The two different arrange-
ments show in striking clarity on the 1851 Smith and Jones map. :

The buildings are shown clearly, and for the first time, the exact title
for the two dwellings flanking the new arsemal is known. The south building
is clearly marked "Paymaster's Quarters," and the north dwelling becomes, by
default, the Master Armorer's Quarters {(Buildirig 10). The new "Commdnding
Qfficer's Quarters" are shown behind (that is, to the north of) the former
site for the commandant's quarters. A circle adjacent to the new quarters
may delineate the location of the rose arbor, remnants of which still survive
today. Another larger circle is drawn on the map, south of the quarters,
which indicates the circular driveway. Both the rose arbor cifcle and the
driveway are bordered by a walk. A final decorative touch to the landscaping
is the set of four rectangles showlng tc the north of ‘the residence. These
are either formal gardens or farming plots. The main Afmory ehtrance is at
the point where the road that runs in front of the Main Arsenal joins State
Street. (Note: The new arsenal eventually became known as the ‘Maih Arsenal.
This structure title may have been in common usage by the Civil War. This is
used hereafter to preclude ambiguity in structure references.)

The November 1851 map (Map 7) provides more detail than does Map 6. It
appears that this map resulted from a thorough survey conducted in 1851, but
had additional data drawn in during the succeeding years.47 The detail itself
is not a matter of question.

47. The exact dating of this map is difficult. This difficulty arises
because of the similarity of the numbers "1' and "7" by the individual who
lettered the map. The far right edge of the map contains the legend with the
notation, "Nov 1851." The "1 of the date, however, looks suspiciously simi-~
lar to the "7" as used throtghout the map. Examination of the map reveals

+ dates up to 16 August 1870, providing that it was sporadically, at least, kept

current as new parcels of land came. into the government's lands. Two items on
the map combined to bring eriough weight of evidence to bear on the situation

to make the date "1851." First, there is the note of few inches to the left of
the legend and title indicating that the survey was as of the magnetic declina-
tion of 1851. BSecond, there is a penciled notation in the lower left corner
of the map opposite the last entry, dated "18 March 1851" or "1851." ‘The
penciled notation clearly says "1851." Probably an ecarlier user had to face
the question as this researcher, and after deciding in favor of "1851," so
noted it. At any rate, the date of 1851 is assigned, and the question

resolved for this report. Others are free to reexamine the decision,
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The - immediately obvious difference between the two maps is that Map 7
(Butler) is drawn to scale and contains careful measurements. The circle in
front of the Commanding Officer's Quarters is measured as "73., ft"; what
might be a fountain appears in the middie of this circle. The walks asso-
ciated with the Commanding Officer's Quarters and the Main Arsenal show
clearly, as do two areas flanking the tower of the arsemal. They could well
be parking areas for wagons loading or unloading weapons.

North of Building 1, the Commanding Officer's Quarters, the contours of
the ravine are illustrated, and the method used suggests outlines of the
grading of the precipice. Unfortunately, the countours of the land west of
(behind) the Main Arsenal do net show, probably because of the large number of
small land parcels the map maker decided to show. The delineation of those
land parcels is a unique feature of the map in that it provides a graphic por-
trayal of the growth of the Armory grounds over the years, and the major growth
that occurred during Ripley's tenure. This list of land parcels added to the
Armory that appears in the bottom left corner of the map contains twenty-nine
entries. Seventeen of them are additions which came during Ripley's period of
command. One item of particular interest is Entry 14, that portion of land
immediately west of the Commanding Officer's Quarters, marked "Fenwick $400 Cath
Lot." This is the "Catholic Lot" that figured so prominently in the Ripley-
Stearns dispute.

The Paymaster's Quarters on the south and the Master Armorer's Quarters
. on the north are drawn in some detail, revealing a few minor differences in
- the rear portions of the buildings. Essentlally, however, the two buildings
were the same in 1851.

The ‘Main Arsenal is measured at 198 feet across the front, but no other
information is given., An interesting relationship exists between the arsenal
tower, in the middle of the building, and the walkway on the square., This
walkway, which cuts the square from east to west, predated the erection of the
aresenal and was obviously centered on the small structure at its east terminus,
the office (or headquarters) of the Armory. Thus a difficult aesthetic prob-
lefn began. It showed itself when the arsenal went up. The Main Arsenal had
to be erected equidistant from the Paymaster's Quarters and Master Armorer's
Quarters. To do otherwise would have been to introduce an imbalance into the
grouping of the three buildings. Neither Ripley, nor any other responsible
individual, would do that without good reason. So the arsenal was placed
between the two buildings. This retained the important element of balance
among the three buildings that sat with such majesty at the west end of the
square, However, it introduced a slightly jarring element of offset and
uneven design since the walkway did not hit the building in the middle, but
slightly to the north. This dlsequlllbrlum so obvious on the map, mist have
been slightly less so on the ground, since the shade trees planted in the
square would have blocked the view of anyone standing at the east end of the
walk and looking west toward the Main Arsenal. If such direct line of site
were possible, it would by easy to see that the west end of the walkway does
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not meet the exact middle of the arsenal. So the imperative of balance in the
placement of the arsenal, dominating the west end of the square, simply out-
weighed the need for balance and regularity in the layout of the walkways
across the square. : '

Other elements of interest appear on the November 1851 map. _Waikways i
encircling the Commanding Officer's Quarters appear, as does a walkway that
traverses the area beyond the west end of the park. This sidewalk runs from a
point north of the Master Armorer's Quarters, passing in front of all three
west end buildings to the main Armory entrance on the south at State Street.

In the circle in front of the Commaﬁding Officer's Quarters a smaller,
dark circle appears in the center. ©Not labeled, it could be almost anything.
Quite probably it indicated a fountain or a tree formerly planted in the
center, '

D. The Final Ripley Years

The years from 1852 to 1854, Ripley's final ones as superintendent,
witnessed the final touches of grading and finishing-up tasks on the new
buildings. Portions of the new iron fence went up as well. Ripley also :
sought ‘to straighten up the boundaries to permit "the U, States to interpose a
road all around the public grounds,."48 His last two years were characterized

by less dramatic events and actions than the period immediately preceding
them, ' : : '

By mid-1852, the fence foundations along State and Byers streets had been
laid, and in May the patterns for the pickets had been approved.49 About that
time the system of using Ordnance Department scrap iron, including old cannon,
for casting material had begun. The material was centralized at New London,
Connecticut, and Newport, Rhode Island, and at Portsmouth, New Hampshire, and was
provided to the firm who contracted to cast the fence rails, Then, the newly
cast pickets underwent inspection by the master armorer of Watertown (Massa-
chusetts) Arsenal before their shipment to Springfield.50 Ripley--probably

anxious to protect the newly constructed buildings and freshly graded, planted,
and seeded grounds--urged

- the whole work forward with as much expedition as is com-
- patible with the durability and the permanent character
of the structure,dl

48, Report of Inspector, October 20, 1852, RG 156, Entry 1003, NA.

49, Whittlesey, "Extracts,” 7:103.

50. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 198; see also, Cyrus Alger and
Co. to Commanding Officer, Springfield Armory, March 16, 1853, in Whittlesey,
"Extracts," 7:198.

51. Whittlesey, "Extracts," 7:103.
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But only the fence along State Street was completedQ By the time the fence
reached the Byers Steet-State Street coiner,

the War Department had been oveftaken by 4 neWw bit of
 legislative penury, and the remainder of the fencing
had to be postponed until a subsequent administration.&2

One similarly linear project, the laying 6f a gas line around the square,
had been accompiished by June 1852. Ripley reported that the gas lines had
been laid around the "pr1nc1pa1 square, " -and ‘added- that with :

little add1t10na1 iabor § expense the offlces, shops and
other buildings can be furnished with the fixtures neces-
sary for lighting them.53

Around the same time--the exact date is difficult to determine--Com-
mandant Ripley extended pipe to the three principal quarters at the west end
of the square to provide the Commanding Officer's Quarters, Master Armorer's
Quarters, and Paymaster's Quarters with running water. At the same time, and
as part of the whole construction and improvement package, the command1ng

officer was able to direct the painting of the ”publlc buildings™ on the hill,
_"the Comdg Off's quarters among them "54 ‘

; P i . .
. While the work of laying the gas and water lines proceeded, interior work
on the Main Arsenal ended with the completion of the rifle racks on the third
floor. , By June 30, 1852, they had beén "partially filled with awms, "85

Ripley's final two years in command of the U.S, Armory at Springfield saw
recognition of his substantial contributions to the site. The 1853 report’
which followed the annual inspection (conducted in September) noted that "all
of the buildings, ave in good condition,' except those at the water shops.

The inspector went on in his report to descrlbe the overall effect of Ripley's

improvements. In doing this he not only evaluated the progress under- Ripley,

but restated that mystique of grandeur that had existed at Springfield Armory
almost from its ear11est days. The inspector, Lieutenant Colonel R. S, Baker,
wrote that

the exterior of nearly all the brick buildings have been
painted an uniform color, the grounds have been further
improved by grading and the front fence on the city main

52. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 198.
53. Whittlesey, "Extracts," 7:103,
54. Ibid., 7:84.

55. Ibid., 7:102.
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street has been finished. The necéssary repairs have been
made to the buildings machines, tools etc, $o that -the
establishment nears an appearance of completeness, and a
state of excellent police and preservation,

But Baker had hardly begun. He justified Ripley's improvements at Springfield
as he continued: . A

In its plan, construction, and arrangement, it should be
such, as to convey the impression of the power of the
country to supply an important means for the effective
defence, independent of foreign, or private, aid, and
like other of our governmental constructures, it should
possess both qualities of permancy and architectural
perfection.

Plans, locking to the future greatness consequently
increased wants of the country should be adopted

for this armory, and executed with skill, and liberal
economy. , : ;
As an important national manufactory, this Armory, its
character, its facilities, for fabricating arms; and

its products, are not less honorable to the country than
useful, and in every view connected with public pride, and
utility, it demands the liberal support of the government.56

An earlier visit to the Armory in 1852 by a writer for Harper's New
Monthly Magazine, (Jacob Abbott), resulted in an elegant description that must
have brought a great deal of pleasure to Lieutenant Colonél Ripley. Abbott's
prose, a mid-victorian literary style that treated overstatement as the horm,
presented the image of the Springfield Armory that both Roswell Lee and James
Ripley had endeavored to create. The article first dealt with the Armory
‘grounds ; '

The Armory Grounds {[see Illustration 1]. On reaching the
summit of the ascent, the visitor finds himself upon an
extended plain, with streets of beautiful rural residences
on every hand, and in the center a vast public souare occu-
pied and surrounded by the buildings of the Armory. These
buildings are spacious and elegant in their construction,
and are arranged in.a very picturesque and symmetrical man-
ner within the équare, and along the streets that surround
it. The grounds are shaded with trees; the dwellings are
adorned with gardens and shrubbery. Broad and neatly kept
walks, some gravelled, others paved, extend across the
green or along the line of the buildings, opening charming

56. Report of Inspector, October 3, 1853, RG 156, Entry 1003, NA.
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CEVIRAL VIEW.

Illustration 1. "General View,"from the 18532 Harper’s New
Monthly Magazine article. The building sporting the large
tower in the top center of the illustration is the New
Arsenal. The perspective is somewhat misleading, since it
shows the main part of the New Arsenal as smaller than
actual and overemphasizes the tower, which is not nearly as
big as this illustration suggests.
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vistas in every direction. All is quiet and still. Here
and there a solitary pedestrian is seen moving at a dis-
tance upon the sidewalk, or disappearing among the trees
at the end of an avenue; and perhaps the carriage of some
party of strangers stands waiting at a gate. The visitor
who comes upon this scene on a calm summer morning, is
enchanted by the rural beauty that surrounds him, and by
the air of silence and repose which reigns over it all.
He hears the distant ‘barking of a dog, the vdices of
children at play, or the subdued thundering of the rail-
way-train crossing the river over its wooden viaduct, for
down the valley-~and other similar rural sounds coming
from a distance through the calm morning air--but all
around him and near him is still. Can it be possible, he
asks, that such a scene of tranquility and loveliness can
be the outward form and embodiement of a vast machinery
incessantly employed in the production of engines of
carneage and death?57 : ‘

The description continued with the Commanding Officer's Quarters. The house,
Abbott wrote,

stands on the west side of the square, opposite to the
end of the avenue which is seen directly before the ob-
server in the view. It occupies a very delightful and
commanding situation on the brow of the hill, having a
view of the Armory buildings and grounds upon one side,
and overlooking the town and valley of the Connecticutt
on the other. [see Tllustration 2.]

He continued with-a_deScription of the arsenals:

A little to the south of the entrance to the Commanding
Officer's house, stands a large edifice, called the New
Arsenal. It is the building with the large square tower--
seen in. the view in the middle distance, and the centre
of the picture. The building is used for storage of the
muskets during the interval that elapses from the finishing
of them to the time when they are sent away to the various
permanent arsenals established by the government in dif-
ferent parts of the country or issued to the troops. Be-
sides this new edifice there are two or three other build-
ings which are used for the storage of finished muskets
called the Old Arsenals. They stand in a line on the
south side of the square, and may be seen on the left
hand, in the view. These buildings, all together, will
contain about five hundred thousand muskets. The New

57. Jacob Abbott, '"The Armory at Springfield," farper's New Monthly
Magazine, Number XXVI, July 1853, vol. V, p. 146
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Arsenai, alone, is intended to contain three hundred
thousand .4

Much later in the érticle, more attention was given to the Main Arsenal
(referred to at that time as the New Arsenal):

The Arsenal. The New Arsenal [see Illustration 3], which
has already beeh alluded to in the description of the
Arsenal grounds, is a very stately edifice. It is two
hundred feet long, seventy feet wide, and fifty feet high.
It is divided into three stories, each of which is calcu-
lated to contain one hundred thousand muskets, making

- .three hundred thcusand in all. The musket when stored in
this arsenal are arranged in racks set up for the purpose
along the immense halls, where they stand upright in rows,
with the glittering bayonets shooting up, as it were,
above. The visitors who go into the arsenal walk up and
down the aisles which separate the ranges of racks, admir-
ing the symmetry and splendor of the display.

The Arsenal has another charm for visitors besides
the beauty of the spectacle which the interior presents--
and that is the magnificane [sic] panorama of t@e surrounding
country, which i1s seen from the summit of the tower. This
tower, which occupies the centre of the building, is about
ninety feet high--and as it is about thirty feet square,
the deck at the top furnishes space for a large party of
visitors to stand and survey the surrounding country.
Nothing can be imagined more enchanting than the view
presented from this position in the month of June. The
Armory grounds upon one side, and the streets of the town
upon the other lies, as it were, at the feet of the spec-
‘tator, while in the distance the broad and luxuriant val-
ley of the Conmecticutt is spread out to view, with its
villages, its fields, its groves, its bridges, its winding
railways, and its serpentine and beautiful streams.59

Besides describing the buildings and grounds., Abbott's article contained
a description of the manufacturing process at the plant. The illustrations in
the article showed a campuslike scene at Springfield Armory, with trees, grass,
and buildings in balanced and comfortable relation to each other.

Jacob Abbott's narrative provided an excellent summary of Ripley's accom-
plishments. Lieutenant Colonel James Ripley had taken over an establishment
whose basic plan had been conceived by the energetic and competent Major

58, TIbid., pp. 146-47.

59. Ibid., pp. 159-60.
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Roswell Lee. Ripley had expanded on Lee's conceépt of buildings surrounding
the open square, and not only reinforced that appreciation of the relationship
of space, landscape vistas, and buildings but had 1mproved the technlcal and
manufacturing processes at the site as well.

In 1854 Ripley placed the last aesthetic touches of his tenure on the
Armory; he had the entire site freshly painted and landscaped, the most com-
plete such such project accomplished since he had taken command thirteen years
earlier. Ripley had accomplished a great deal when, on August 5, 1854, Pres-
ident Franklin Pierce signed the law removing military officers from command
at National Armories. As instructed by the War Department, he quickly turned
command of the facility over to the master armorer, a civilian, and quickly
departed e0

The Armory contained all the major buildings that the Natlonal Park
Service would gain responsibility for over 120 years later. No major con-
struction ;took place after Ripley's administration in that portion of the
Armory which is now a national historic site. The subsequent history of the
site is the narration of minor changes which include the removal of the two
buildings flanking the Main Arsenal, and the modernization and erection of
outbuildings. But the major conflguratlon of the 1854 complex and of the 1977
complex are identical.

60. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory,” p. 207; Rlpley turned over com-
mand on August 16, 1854, Whittlesey, "Extracts," 7 30.
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CHAPTER IV: THE EVOLUTION OF THE SPRINGFIELD ARMORY: "HARMONY PREVAILS"Y

Although there were no major construction projects between the end of the

Ripley administration and the present, Springfield Armory hardly remained static.

Major technological changes occurréd and thousands of workers and soldiers
came and went. The Armory met thé challenge of ordnance manufacturing for the
Spanish-American War and for the Philippine Insurrection which followed, and
as the military establishment changed with the coming of the twentieth cen-
tury, it provided new rifles, machine guns, and spare parts. Its shops manu-
factured weapons and parts for use in World Wars I and IT, as well as the ware
in Korea and Vietnam, '

Except for that portion of the Armory which would eventually become a
national historic site, the physical changes were not profound--save for the
moving of two buildings. No major structures were erected to change the
commanding relationship of the Main Arsenal, either to the square it fronted or
the slope it overwatched. Nor did anything but elms, maples, oaks, and fruit
treés rise to compete for prominence with the quarters of the cormanding
officer. ‘ . :

: i

An inspector summed up the tranquil scene not long after Colonel Ripley

departed: :

Proper police and discipline is enforced, and harmony
prevails. Buildings are in good preservation, Machinery
and Tools are of the best Kind, and Stores are well taken
care of .1 . \

Of course, almost any situation would appear tranquil and harmonious following
the never quite quiescent Ripley-Stearns dispute which had dominated the years
of Ripley's command.

The changes that did occur, and that did bring easily recognizeable
change, numbered only four. The first change was the completion of the fence
in the early 1860s. The second, the movement of the Master Armorer's Quarters
(Building 10), came between 1877 and 1882. The third, the relocation of the
main gate, took place about the same time, The final major development, which
came in 1895{_was the movement of Building 17, the Paymaster's Quarters. Some
other modifications occurred between 1854 and 1974, including some additional
grading on the slope west of the Main Arsenal. These changes are considered
in the following discussion, accompanied by documenting maps and photographs.

1. Report of Inspector, September 28, 1857, RG 156, Entry 1003, NA.
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A, 1854 to 1864

In the years immediately following James Ripley's departure his suc-
cessor, a civilian named James Whitney, took over the task of finishing the
grad1ng and fencing of the grounds and supervised the completion of many of
Ripley's projects.

By June 1855 interest in completing the iron fence resumed, and the
foundrg at Chlcopee just north of Springfield, requested the patterns for the
pales, : : L N ' : ;

There were several other interrelateéd problems and pr03ects. Land
acquisition was continued on a limited scale and a few parcels of land were
purchased "“so that the outlines.of the public land" on the hill could lay in a
"more convenient form."S However, this resulted in more vngraded slopes which
worsened: the problem of water runoff on the west slope. Grading was therefore
initiated to solve that long-standing difficulty. Superintendent Whitney
later reported that the ground downhill behind the Main Arsenal, "having been
repeatedly broken and much injured by the springs which issued from the hill-
side and the actions of frost and snow, [was replaced in 1856-1837 by a]
regular and gradual slope."¢ In conjunction with the grading project, both
during and after, Armory workers planted trees and "extended and improved"

hedges., The slope on the hillside was planted with seventy-five new trees,
completlng that segment of the landscaplng pro;ect

Work continued on the fence; stone foundat;ons for it were installed,
first along Byers Street and then along Pearl. Simultaneously, culverts were
laid "fronting upon East Pearl Street to carry off waste water, and to protect -
the grounds and fence from injury.' By mid-1860 the section of the fence
fronting on Byers Street was complete, and the Pearl Street segment had been
" started.5 When the last picket in the iron fence was installed in 1862, the

2. Whittlesey, "Extracts," 7:58.
3, Report of Inspector, October 16, '1856 ‘RG 156, Entry‘lDOS NA.

4. Whittlesey, "Sprlngfleld Armory,“ p. 213 The appropriation from
Congress for the work had been approved late in the summer of 1856 and Whitney
was notified September 8, 1856. Whittlesey, "Extracts,' 7:48.

5, "Springfield Armory," in report of the Ordnance Department, Secretary
of War Report, 1860, vol. II, (Washington, D.C., 1860), pp. 971-72; Much of
the drive to continue the iron fence came from former superlntendent Ripley.
Lieutenant Colonel Ripley was the officer from the Office of the Chief of
Ordnance who inspected Springfield Armory early in April 1859. Ripley and his
fellow officers could not fail to see the war c¢louds gathering on the horizon,
-and no doubt they realized that the security of Springfield's vast supply of
weapons depended upon a good fence as well as vigilant guarding. Ripley's
{continued)
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Illustration 4. "Springfield, Massachusetts, From the
Longmeadow Road," 1855, from lglegson’s Pictorial Drawing-
Room Companton, p. 120, no date, in the collections of
Springfield City Library. The New Arsenal, Paymaster's
Quarters and Commanding Officer's Quarters show clearly on

the Armory--or Tower--Hill overlooking Springfield and the .

Connecticut River, at the right- of the picture.




hill shops were at last completely encircled.f Although the fence acted as a
physical barrier and ‘thus provided some protection for the site, overall
security was shown to be insufficient when the Main Arsenal became the object
- of an abortive sabotage attempt.

Described as "a puerile attempt to destroy the Main Arsenal,' the action
came in 1864. A guard noticed two strangers in the tower of the Main Arsenal,
and after watching them depart, spied a bundle in the tower. Investigation
showed it to be a bomb which had failed to explode, or had been stopped from
exploding; it is not clear which of the two circumstances applied. The tower
might have been damaged if the bomb had exploded, but the building's mission
of housing guns would hardly have been affected. Springfield Armory's major
chronicler wrote that "it is not easy to see what harm it could have done the
Union cause, even if it had gone off."7 The Confederate forces who had
destroyed the Harper's Ferry Armory had to content themselves with a near-miss
at Springfield. Tt was the only time that tranquil Sprlngfleld was ever the
object of direct aggression.

B. 1864 to 1884

A turning p01nt in the documentation of the evolutlon of Springfield
Armory occurred in 1864. The civil engineering and surveylng firm of Shedd
and Edson prepared a "Topographical Plan' of the armory site. 8 This estab-
lished the practice of carefully recordlng changes in the Armory by meahs of

5. (continued) 1859 report dealt with the problem at some length. He
wrote: "As the street on the north side of the Armory grounds will soon be
opened, it becomes necessary to provide for the erection of an iron fence in
continuation of and to correspond with that now [surrounding?] the other sides
of the grounds. 2713 linear feet are required. The means taken to procure
" that already erected were so successful, and so advantageous to the government
that I would respectfully suggest their adoption in obtalnlng castings for
this addition" (Report of Inspection, April 19, 1859, 'RG 156, Entry 1003, NA).
Ripley continues, outlining his earlier-employed technique of utilizing old
castings and cannon as raw materials for the fence pales. ~Ripley, the in-
spector, no doubt enjoyed the role of supporter to, the plans and ideas of
Ripley, the superintendent.

6. "Historical Record, Springfield Armory," sheet 3 of "systems" section
dated 1930; on file at the Springfield Armory Museum. Dvarecka, in "Spring-
field Armory," Congressional Record, March 1966, p. 6036, dates the completion
of the fence about "the close of the Civil War."

7. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," p. 231, contains both quotations
regarding the incident.

8. Map 8, "Topographical Plan of the Springfield Armory, Springfield
Mass. April 1864. Scale 100 feet to an Inch. Shedd § Edson, Civil Engineers
and Surveyors 42 Court St. Boston,'" photograph 11086-SA, Springfield Armory
Museum files.
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maps, plans, photographs, and illustrations. Because of this, the changes

from 1864 to the modern era can be examined in detail, and broad, diffuse
patterns are more easily recognized. This change in documentation provided an
important tool for historical amalysis: surviving photographs have been
examined in conjunction with the carefully surveyed maps and plans to provide

a more consistent and cohesive record of the Armory's history than was possible
for its earlier periods.d

The first manifestation of the new collection of documents and graphics
is the mutually reinforcing 1864 map and photograph. Taken together, they
reveal a great deal. Immediately apparent on the Shedd § Edson map is the
outline of the grounds. That part of the Armory which is now a historic site
is clearly and completely outlined. Bordering thé boundaries are evenly
spaced, straight lines of trees. Along State, Byers, and Pearl Streets the
fence shows as a continuous line, its martial charatter somewhat softened by
the trees. The Armory's main gate opens onto State Street, and is marked by a
sentry box on the west side. Another entrance appears at the corner of Byers
and Pearl, the exit for a road:beginning at the icircle in front of the "Supt's
Qtrs." Local history maintains that the portion of the slope traversed by the
road served as a hay field. This may be accurate since the land remains as
moist now as always despite past and present drainage attempts; it could have
been used for little else. The entrance at Byers:and Pearl would not have
remained in use for long as a major thoroughfare since any wagons, cayriages,
or other traffic would have passed in front of the "Supt's Qtrs,” a circum-
stance that few superintendents would long suffer.

As one proceeds from the outer boundary to the interior of the Armory,
the most striking quality is the glorious abandon showing in the landscaping.
What had been regular and evenly spaced with precision before Ripley's improve-
ments were instituted became something quite the opposite. The grading, which
had been recently finished when the photograph was taken, left the slopes
almost precipitous behind the superintendent's quarters, but far more gentle
and gradual toward the south and west. The trees appear scattered about
almost as. if mother nature herself had emplaced them; the same effect is seen
in the square. It is here that the transition from regularly spaced trees in
parallel rows to the naturalistic scattering occurs. The remnants of the
columns and rows of trees can be easily traced by placing a straightedge
lengthwise on the map at the square. Four parallel rows still remain in

- scattered sections, although their regularity is camouflaged by other trees in

the square that were not so carefully positioned. The exceptions to the
naturalistic design show along interior roads, where orderly rows of trees,
methodically spaced, still exist.

Gardens, too, show clearly, especially the formal arrangements of the
plots north of the superintendent's quarters. The superintendent's quarters
also has an associative feature, a circle filled with trees just adjacent to the

9. See Illustration 5, "The Hill Shops and Arsenal . . , 1864," for
example.

53




northeast corner of the building. This circle separates the quarters f£rom an
"Ice House," between it and the garden. The circle and the geometrically
trimmed hedges in one section of the garden suggest that the landscaping near
the superintendent's quarters reflected careful plamming, and the same appears
true for the master armorer's residence nearby and the paymaster's on the
opposite side ‘of the arsenal. There hedges form a boundary for the yard:
around each structure. Yet only the master armorer's house has an "Ice
House." This ice house, like the one near the superintendent's quarters, is
octagonal,l0 : -

The main building,'previbusly called the '"New Arsenal’ is now entitled
simply "Arsenal." The tower on the building merits specific labeling, giving
testimony to its prominence at the Armory.

The 1864 topographic plan reveals graphically what had been the subject
of countiess documentary comments: grading and drainage. In fact the three-
foot interval contour lines so carefully drawn on the 1864 map illuminate what
the site looked like until modifications in the late 1960s took place on the
grounds at the rear of the Main Arsenal. The water pipes, drains, and sewers
also show, ' '

Examination of the 1864 map reveals that while one drain.carried water to
State Street just north of the entrance gate, the major drainage systems
joined at the Byers and Pearl Streets entrance. One drain began at the seventy-
one-foot level, near the Federal and Pearl Streets corner of the . Armory; and
ran parallel to the street to the Byers and Pearl Streets entrance, The trace
of the remaining portion of the drain is mot so simply seen or understood.
Immediately apparent is a drain rumming parallel with Byers Street which
connects with the Pearl Street line at the Byers and Pearl Streets entrance.
Not so apparent is the direction of flow. Did the water flow from the corner
of State and Byers--from the middle of State Street--all the way to Byers and
Pearl? If it did, then this infers that the drain connected with bigger
drains at both ends, something barely probable. '

A possible explanation, which will serve until refuted, places all of the
drains in one system. One arm of the system begins in the complex of gardens
near the superintendent's quarters, and parallels the street in front of the
arsenal. It exits the Armory at the State Street entrance. The map shows_as
much, but goes no further with the drain. If the drain (which does not’ show on
the map) did continue and turned west, parallel to State Street until the
State and Byers Street corner, and then connected to the Byers Street line
(which does show on the map), the system would be a complete one, with down-
hill sloping the entire way. This explanation fits in well with the report of

10. The offices of paymaster and master armorer jockeyed for privacy for
much of the nineteenth century. For much of the period the paymaster enjoyed
the highest stakes. Yet in 1864 the Paymaster's Quarters had no ice house
while the Master Armorer's Quarters did. Possibly the year 1864 saw the
master armorer's office in a rare position of supremacy.
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: | 1860 that the "total length of culverts constructed upori the érmOry grounds
- and at the water shops amounts to some seven hundred lineal yards.“11

Other water systems are also shown on the map They are not as easily
determined as they could be, since they .tend to blend with the grid lines and
other lines on the map. Some however, are readily apparent. A water line
connects the wing of the superintendent's gquarters to the circle in front.

This is probably the cistern built in June 1845. - Before the water line enters
the superintendent's quarters,'lt branches, with a line runnlng toward the road
in front of the Main Arsenal. "This line parallels the road and passes in

front of the Master Armorer's Quarters‘and then the Main Arsenal and Paymaster’s
Quarters, ‘turns about there, crosses’ the road, and enters the structure marked
PFire Engine." Three lines radiate from this one, each to one of three areas
immediately behind the Main Arsenal, possibly ending in hydrants for fire
fighting or lawn watering. Another line runs to the Paymaster's Quarters on
the State Street side of that structure. Although no entrance line shows at
the Master Armorer's Quarters, the pipes had been laid in 1852 and the omis-
sion is possibly an error on the part of the mapmaker.

The 1864 topographic plan contains a great amount of information about
the site. In addition, it shows the Armory at the conclusion of the Ripley
improvements, with the grading and fencing complete. It is thus a most im-
portant piece of documentation in the Springfield story and forms the founda-
tion for the historic base map along with a similar 1877 map.

The 1864 illustration of the site (Illustration 5} gives a three-dimen~
sional appreciation of the information on the map. Most of the information is

self-evident, but a few points merit discussion

The trees appear to be primarily maples, elms, and spruce (this is an
‘informal appraisal based on one photograph). However, a report in 1909
(réprodiced as Appendix 3) specifically noted older maples and elms, which

‘correlates  to such trees being planted around the 1860s. The 1809 report, in
discussing the older maples, calls them "soft maple,” better known today as
silver maple. While not confirmed, it appears that silver maple, elm, and
spruce were among the predominant specles used in the landscaping of the
Armory.

Other qualities which existed at the site show as well. The neatly
spaced rows of trees along the streets are easily identified, as are the
informal clusters on the square and on the hill behind the Main Arsenal. The
hedges which appear on the map in relation to the quarters flanking the Main
Arsenal are quite obvious, The ground building, or "sentry box' as the 1864
topographic plan calls it, appears in the elevation at the main gate at State
Street. The picture shows that this gate was, indeed, the main gate. No -
‘other entrance rivals it for size or metits a sentry pox (of gatehouse).

11, U.S., Congress, House, '"Report of the Chief of Ordnance " 1860,
in Annual Reports of the War Department for the Fiscal. Year.Endlng June 30
1860, p. 972.
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These two 1864 documents, the topographic plan and the drawing, combine
to show Springfield Armery at its most glorious.moment: the Ripley improie-
ments freshly constructed, landscaping likewise just completed, aud the busy
site the sole remaining national armory belohging to the Unitdd States.lZ

C. 1865 to 1882

The seventeen years between 1865 and 1882 witnessed changes on the Armory
grounds and in the surrounding neighborhoods. The meighborhood development
brought honor, in a way, to Roswell Lee and James Ripley, and to their ap-
preciation of open space, landscaping, and symmetry of building placement,

The changes at the Armory, while less dramatic than the urban growth surround-
ing it, further complemented the prominence of the Main Arsenal on the hill
overlooking Springfield.

Nothing as identifiable as Roswell Lee's designs or James Ripleéy's build-
ing program took place on the Armory grounds, of course, But the quadrangje
took a new name, It had begun as the Green, and later Had been called Tower
Square. By 1865, however, the name "Union Square,™ had taken ovér.ZS The

-names for the main square at the Armory had ‘chahged with the times. The

initial title, the Green, fit well with the colonial and early national

heritage of New England, when many towns and villages formed around a green of
some sort. The name "Tower Hill" appeared when the tower of the Main Arsenal
was completed, complementing the effect of the smaller tower on the headquarters
at the other end of the square. Then, with the Civil War, came the appropriate
new title Union Square,

About the time that Tower Hill was becoming Union Square, certain events
just outside the walls began unfolding. The areas which bounded the Armory's
serene and campuslike vistas had been either farm land or only lightly
developed. Near the end of the Civil War, the quiet, almost rural setting
came under the scrutiny of real estate developers, At roughly the same time,
the land betwsen downtown Springfield and the Armory, marked today by churches,
two cathedrals, museums, and the public library, began to take on the char-
acter that the area shows now. The developments bounded the Armory and re-
flected the careful mix of architectural and landscaping considerations
evident in one form or another at Springfield Armory.

12. Harper's Ferry Arsenal had been destroyed by Confederate troops
early in the War of the Rebellion leaving Springfield's predominance in the
manufacture of arms unchailenged for the remainder of the nineteenth century.

13. Michael Prisch, Town Inte City: Springfield, Massachusetts, and the
Meaning of Commmity, 1840-1880 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard Univ-
ersity Press, 1972}, p. 89; This citation is the '"Map of Springfield, Mass.,
Published by Samuzel Bowles and Co," in 1865. It appears to be the earliest
use of "Union Square," although it is possible that the name emerged during
the earlier years of the Civil War. Later in the same book, p. 144, an 1873
map, "Map of the City of Springfield, Mass., published by Clark W. Bryan and
Co, 1873," carries the same designation for the quadrangle.
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Among the first of the majestic structures, St, Michael's Cathedral began
to rise during the last years of the Civil War and was consecrated in 1866.14
Other churches soon followed, their varying styles, largé sizes, and verdant
lawns forming a unity of neighborhood character even though their individual
designs differed significantly.’ Before too many more years, the;Congregation-
alists and the Episcopaliians joined the Roman Catholics in the area between
Armory H111 and downtown Springfield.

Couxrt. Square, with its churches and public buildings, formed the downtown

end of the rising complex of public bulldlngs and churches. . Armory Hill, with
the Main Arsenal as its prominent landmark, formed the other. The churches—~
and the library built somewhat later--matched the Main Arsenal and Court
Square buildings in size and in the portrayal of an architectural message :

Most of the new churches were located on the bluff or
slope of the hill overlooking the flats downtown., Five
of the major projects, in fact, involved a move directly
uphill from old locations [and toward the Armory]. In
part this represented a desire, especially among wezlth-
ier congregations, to move closer to the homes of promi-
nent members [in the developments on top of the hill
close to the Armory], and to enjoy the status and pres-
tige that such a location could imply. '

R

As it happened, the churches and other public buildings

in this area were transforming it, rather than embracing
its previously residential, almost exclusive character;
State Street, near Chestnut and Maple, was fast becoming
as it is today, a quieter and more specialized part of
the communities center, a focus of public activity. ' The
city's unusual topography, which made land so close to the
commercial heart seém so much further removed in character.
Thus allowed the church builders the unique opportunity

to 'flee' the materialistic city at the same time they
celebrated and contributed to its expanding urbanity.lé

While the churches filled in the area between the Armory and downtown's
Court Square, and in so doing forged a chain of public buildings and land-
scaped vistas connecting the two, the residential areas surrounding the Armory
on top of the hill experienced growth even as it slackened in other Spring-
field areas, especially in the early 1870s.I1€

14, Frisch, Springfield, pp. 148-49.
15. Ibid.

16. Ibid., p. 135.
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Continued growth of housing around the Armory was not, however, the
hallmark of the development. The unique.quality was the sharacter of the
development. Like the vision which guided Roswell Lee and James Ripley in
producing a planned and carefully designed neighborhood, the developers of
this "sandy, barren plain, dominated by scrub oak and pine" first planned
and then succeeded in producing a residential area of grace and beauty.l”

Like the development on the west side of the Armory which brought the
churches and other public buildings to match those on the hill, this par-
ticular residential development began in the late 1860s and early 1870s and
continued sporadically for the next thirty years. It began at the time that
the freshly graded and landscaped west end of the Armory looked its best, with
the trees planted in 1864 somewhat larger after a few year's growth, the
aesthetic unity of the iron fence paralleling State, Byers, and Pearl Streets
evident, and the group of buildings on the hill still intact. The builders
had not failed to appreciate the example set at the Armory.

The development near the Armory (some of which still survives today)
began along State Street, east of the Armory, and

‘came on a scale unprecedented in Springfield, but the form
was somewhat different and more portentous. North of State
Street, men like George Tapley, James Thompson, Tilly
Haynes and especially the two McKnight brothers began be-
tween 1869 and 1873 what was to be almost twenty years of
comprehensive neighborhood development.

* R %

Styles were coordinated, trees planted, sidewalks and
drains built, and other steps taken toward establishing
ordered and unified neighborhoods.I§

With early success in the venture, the development grew,
and prominent residents of Springfield flocked to the
beautiful neighborhood, which earned the title of "The
Gold Coast."

Six of the city’'s mayors lived there, as did the presi-
dents of Massachusetts Mutual, Monarch, and Springfield
Fire and Marine Insurance Companies.

* % %

17. Wayne Phaneuf, ''McKnight Knew Greatness," Daily News, Springfield,
Massachusetts, May 14, 1976,

18. Frisch, Springfield, pp. 138-39.
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The McKnight brothers laid out wide streets and large
" fots. Not everybody could buy in.’ Clauses in the sale
agreenents excluded 'undesireable residents,'19

; The pattern which eﬁerged at Springfield was the opposite of that in the
usual New England mill towns. The factory was beautiful, not ugly. The
wealthy did not seek the suburbs far removed from the noise and smells of
industry; ratHer, they focused on the town's main "factory," the Armory. In
the layout of their public buildings, churches, and homes, Springfield's

~citizens centered on the Armory, both physically and aesthetically. Whether
definite proof can be established that- the orderly mix of grounds, trees, and
buildings at the Armory caused the same considerations to apply to the city as
it developed after the Civil War is somewhat doubtful. Cause and effect in
history usually don't fall into such neat and obvious niches. . Yet the dareful
grouping of buildings on the hill, and the ever neat grounds had been in the
eye of the city's citizens since the beginning of the century., It is not
unrealistic to suppose that Springfield Armory's '"architectural Permancy and
perfection" provided some part of the vision realized by the city in the
neighborhoods around the Armory. : -

If in other New England towns "the factory system produced unparalleled
ugliness and squalor," the factory called Springfield Armory did not. Some of
the credit for this must go to Roswell Lee and James Ripley.20

Meanwhile, on the hill, some alterations had occurred. These changes
began appearing on maps in the 1870s. The first was a map included in the
annual report of the Secretary of War for 1875.21 1t showed that the main
entrance no longer lay on State Street, and that a new road had been cut on an
argle from near the Paymaster's Quarters to the corner of State and Byers
Streets. This remains today. = Also, the pool at the base of the hill along
Pearl Streéet now included a fountain. _ '

Other maps and illustrations of that era show the change as well (for
example, se¢ Illustration 6). The 1875 drawing--Illustration 6--indicates
that a gatehouse or sentry box also stood at the new gate. The gate along

19. Phaneuf, "McKnight Knew Greatness."

20. James Marston Fitch, American Building 1: The Historieal Forces
that Shaped It, rev. ed. (New York: Schocken Books, 1973), p. 51; The whole
relationship of Springfield Armory and the city merits far more detailed and
critical examination than either time or funds available will allow here. The
need for additional research bearing on the question is discussed in the
"Recommendations for Additional Research' section of this study.

21. U.S., Congress, House, "Report of the Chief of Ordnance, October 9,
_1875," in Annudl Report of the War Department for the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 1876, p. 37fF.
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Illustration 6. "View of Springfield, Mass., 1875, Published
by Whitney and Adams, Corner of Main and State Street,
Springfield,” from the '"Springfield City Library" Collections.




State Street had been closed, and the area of the gates replaced by regular
iron fence pales, although a small pedestrian gate was retained and still
exists,22 '
i

Little remained of the rows of trees, if Illustration 6 is accurate.
However, without maifitenance, the natural cycle of trees probably would have
eliminated the majority of them anyway by 1875. The grading and landscaping
design implemented in the 1840s, 1850s, and early 1860s had not only kept the
original neat rows intact, but had resulted in additional trees being planted
to break up the older arrangement Therefore, the 1875 picture is probably
accurate, '

Other developments at Springfield Armory which had occurred by 1877
appear on another topographic plan, also in Shedd and Edson.23 All the
buildings remained intact but one, the paymaster's house, which had undergone
some changes, while its counterpart on the other side of ‘the Main Arsenal had
not. Probably the paymaster had the upper hand at the moment and had been

able to bring about what appears to be a significant upgrading of his dwelling.

The Commanding Officer's Quarters did not yet have its front porch in 1877.
To the rear of the Commanding Officer's Quarters, the fountain near Pearl
Street Shown on the 1864 map had a companion fountain uphill which drained
into it. :

The most significant change, however, was not an alteration, but an
addition. On the slope along the road which led to the new entrance at Byers
and State Streets, a monumeént had been built. A later photograph (Illustra-
tion 7) showed it to be a stone monument with ivy covering, and including
cannons and cannon balls. Given the date of its erection, circa 1876, it
could have been either a Centennial orxr a Civil War memorial, or both.

Another change, on the 1877 map, and one not so apparent, is that the
Master Armorer's Quarters now have a water pipe leading to them. None is
shown on the 1864 plan. This could mean that sometime between 1864 and 1877
water pipes were laid to the Master Armorer's Quarters, or it could mean that
an oversight on the earlier map was corrected on the later one; this is the
probable explanation. .

No other major changes in the water lines appear, although an explanation
for the same confusion concerning the drain lines might have been applied by

22. The date 1875 for the change is not a capricious one and, while it
may miss the mark by a year or two, was arrived at by a process of weighing
the evidence. The two 1875 documents discussed above both show the new road
in place. But, 1875, 1876, and 1877 city directories show the original road
and entrance. Certainly the change came close to 1875. That date will stand
until additional evidence can resolve that question,

-23. '"Topographical Plan of the U.S. Armory. Springfield, Mass. Feb
1877. Scale 100 feet to an inch. Shedd & Edson, Engineers, Boston, Mass,"
Springfield Armory Museum.
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UNITED STATES ARMORY pmanur 1 10,

Illustration 7. Monument Along the Entrance Road. The monument
first appeared on an 1877 map. This photograph, however, must have
been taken after the Paymaster's House had been moved in 1895.
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“the time the 1877 plan was drawn. Correspondence betwen the Board of Water

Commissioners and the city mention both public and private water lines exist-
ing along the streets bounding the Armory. Possibly the drains exiting near
the old State Street entrance did connect to drains along State Street, and
then reentered the Armory grounds near the new gate at Byers and State Streets.

A new entrance shows clearly, as does the attendant gatehouse. This,
however, is not the same gatehouse that survives today.

By 1876, Springfield Armory claimed a new title along with its recently
acquired gun collection. Documents mentioning the Armory by this date fre-
quently call it "The National Armory." . The title is an interesting one.

Until the Civil War Harper's Ferry manufactured weapons and could have been
classed as an armory. But early in that conflict the rebél forcés attacked
and destroyed the armory there, leaving Springfield Armory as the sole federal
manufactory for small arms. It remained the only national center of its type
until the early years of the twentieth century. At that time, the title
Springfield Armory returned to common use. ‘

Around this time--either late 1876 or early 1877--some of the guns and
allied displays from the Philadelphia Exposition of 1876 came to Springfield
to form a nucleus for a museum at the Avmory. This collection of arms would,
after many years, be housed in the Main Arsenal as it is today.2%

Sometime between 1877 and 1882, the Master Armorer's Quarters were moved.
The exact date is not yet known, but the 1877 Shedd and Edson topographic
plan shows the building in its original location while the 1882 Atlas of
Springfield City shows it in its present location. The 1882 map shows few
other changes. The only obvious changes are the different configuration of

-the gardens and grounds associated with the Commanding Officer's Quarters, and

the square outline of what had shown on other maps as a hexagonal or octagonal
gatehouse. This structure, at the New Byers and State Street corner, is
probably shown incorrectly on this map. Later evidence suggests that the -
building did not change during the nineteenth century. That evidence includes
an 1884 article enhanced by a series of well-detailed drawings.26 The first

24, Springfield Armory Correspondence, RG 156, Entry 1367, File 195, NA;
This file contains letters mentioning the water systems along Pearl, Bvers,
ahd State.

25. Whittlesey, '"Springfield Armory," pp. 234-35; The year 1876 proved
to be important for the architectural history of Sprlngfleld Armory as well,
That year the Ordnance Department published a collection of measured drawings
of officer's quarters at arsenals and the mational armory. Drawings of the
Commanding Officer's Quarters and Master Armorer's Quarters are included and
discussed in the buildings section of this report.

26. Kirkham, "United States Armory," pp. 245-46.
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1876, This Spring or Summer scene shows the gquarters prior

“:fllustration 9. West End of Springfield Armory, circa 1880, show-

-field City Library.

Illustration 8. “‘Commanding Officer’s Quarters," citrca

to the new porch installation which was in place by the
1880s,

ing the complex at the west end as it looked until Building 10,

the Master Armorer's Quarters, was moved around 1880. The tower
of 8t, Mathew's Cathedral to the rear narrows the date of this
picture to the period 1864 to 1880. Photograph courtesy of Spring-




Map 11. Springfield Armory, 1882, appearing in Atlas of Springfield
City, Massachusetts. Compiled from Recent and Actual Surveys and
Records Under the Direction of the Publishers. Geo H. Walker and
Son, 81 Milk Street, Roston, Mass., 1882. Courtesy of Springfield
Library.



illustration, "The Arsenal Building and Gateway, from State Street," includes
a view of the Main Arsenal and the Paymaster's Quarters as well as an octag-
onal gatehouse. The predominant trees appear to be spruces, and the two items
set out as display items in the yard appear to be artillery caissons,

Another drawing, "The Commandant's Quarters' shows both the recently
emplaced porch on the, structure as well as the landscaping associated with it.
The young, maturing trees--probably elms--blend with the shrubbery around the
house in a tasteful relationship which strongly suggests a professional's
touch of landscape design.

A third picture, "A Room In The Main Arsenal," showing four gun racks,
and the opening stanza of Longfellow's poem about Springfield Armory, helps
convey some of that mystique first manifested by Roswell Lee's phase, "a grand
national armory." Albert Harleigh Kirkham's prose of 1884 illustrates how
strong the thread of grandeur and stately proportions still was. !'"'Beautiful
for situation,' indeed can be said of the city of Springfield,” he wrote,

and, the Main Arsenal having been erected upon almost the
highest point of land within the limits of the city, the

view from its top, or bell-deck is in many respects sur-

passed by few, if any, in New England.27 . :

Later in the article he commented on the square and the west end build-
ings: : .

Upon your right is Union Square proper, with its trees---

a great variety--its beautiful, velvety turf, and battery
of half-dozen twelve-pounders, one of which is used fot

the sunrise and sunset gun, A few yards from the corner
where you turn to the south-east, towards State Street,

is the commandant's quarters; passing which south-east-
erly, you come to the main arsenal, -having almost com-~
pleted the circut of Union Square. The arsenal is capable,
with its ba;gment of storing nearly a half-million stand of
arms. . . .

" Kirkham also noted that "$6,225,000 had been expended for land, buildings,
improvements, etc"” by 1884.349

D. 1885 to 1900

The period from 1885 to 1900 saw mostly modernization of facilities such
‘as -lighting and water. However, these modern qualities had not been extended

27. Ibid., p. 246,
28, Ibid., pp. 264-65.

29. Ibid., p. 248.
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Illustration 13. "United States Armory--State Street
Entrance——About 1886 Showing Sentry At The Gate," from the
City of Springfield Library Collections. This photograph
might have been the basis of the drawing of the same scene
in King's Handbook (see Illustration 10). The detail,
including the presence of the two caissons, appears iden-—
tical. 1If it is the same scene, the date should be "about
1884."




as far as the quarters at the west end of the Armory. The inspection report

for 1892 noted that "'the post is still lighted by gas," although the machinery

in the water Shops had been converted to electricity.
-The water supply system was also unchanged as late as 1892:

The water supply is procured on the reservation and raised
to large tanks on top of public buildings, and distributed
throughout by force of gravity.3d '

The respect which many inspectors felt for Springfield Armory was mani-
fested in a statement by the inspector general, Colonel R, P. Hughe, in
forwarding to his superiors the routine report which discussed the gas light-
ing and water supply. Phrased in an indignant tone, the inspector general
noted that ' -

the guard at this great establishment has been reduced to a
system of watchmen, tending to destroy all military bearing
and discipline in this detachment.3I

The "great establishment" also Teceived some attention in a local picture
book that year. Like the article in King's Handbook eight years earlier, this
one took note of the territory adjacent to the Armory:

The United States Armory pessesses the crown of the hill
just off State Street on the north and hedges its wide ex-
panse of grounds in on every side by a high, black painted
iron fence that lends the place quite an air of mystery.
Within. are the many acres of well-kept grounds thickly set
with shade trees.

On the lawns are a number of cannon and mortars, which
for some reason or another do not seem very warlike, al-
though they certainly do awaken a‘feeling of respect.

The same book described the areas surrounding the Armory, moting both the
development along State Street and that east of the Armory:

State Street is the chief avenue of connection between the
business center and the residence portion of the city. It
is a street shadowed by many well-grown trees and is dis-
tinguished by the number of churches which look out from
the follage that half hides them. The Church of the Unity
is worthy of special notice by the simple grace of its
architecture, the breadth of handsome lawn which grades up

30. Report of Inspection, June 16, 1892, Colonel R. P. Hughe, RG 156,
Entry 1003, NA.

31. Ibid.
74
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in a gentle sweep from the street ot its door and fire elms
surrounding. Opposite, is the City Library, an institution
of great vitality and helpfulness, and ranking in service-
ability among the finest libraries in the land. In fact,
no library in this state outside Boston circulates as many
books as this does. :

Beyond the library is the big Catholic Cathedral front-

ing a broad level of lawn, and a little farther up the grad-
ually rising street is the handsome brownstone church of the
First Baptist Society. It has a character all its dwn, and

though its entrances are odd and its towers quaint, its de-

5ign is harmonious and attractive.

The rich and heavy victorian prose continues, describing the development
east of the Armory which had begun in the late 1860s and accelerated into the
following decades:

To the east of the armory is the Springfield Highland
section. A few years ago it was a region of sandy plains
occupied by only a few scattered farmhouses. Now there are
miles of handsomely appointed streets, lined on either side
by pleasant modern houses, ranging from modest cottages to
costly villas, all with well-kept lawns and few out of sight
of the fountains playing in the little parks at the inter-
section of the streets. Each house has a strip of clear
lawn in front and on either side, and in the space behind
enough ground for a bit of a garden if the owner is inclined
in that direction. He at least indulges in a few fruit
trees. On the borders of this district you are rarely
during working hours, out of hearing of the carpenter's ham-
mering as they put together another dwelling to add to the
lives of houses already built and occupied. There is still
left an interposing of grass-grown lots where flourish an
occasional apple tree and the inevitable 'For Sale! signs,32

That same year, 1892, a name change came to Springfield Armory. Of-
ficially the "National Armory at Springfield," since late Civil War days, the
manufacturing site became "Springfield Armory.'33 This name has carried on to
the present.

Following 1892 the manufacturing and administrative process at the Armory
rolled along, but the grounds and buildings, except for the Paymaster's
Quarters, saw much more routine maintenance than modification. In 1895 the

32. Charles Forbes Warner, Pleturesque Hampden (Northampton, Massa-
chusetts: Picturesque Publishing Company, 1891), p. 23.

33. Dvarecka, "History," p. 6038,
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main portion--the front section--of the paymaster's house was moved to join
the line of quarters along the north side of the road flanking the quadrangle,
Union Square.34 This put the Main Arsenal alone at the west end of the
quadrangle and increased its dominant effect on the lowlands below.

Also in 1895, one of the museums which would become part of the four-
museum complex around ''the Quadrangle,' was built. This was the George Walter
Vincent Smith Art Museum, featuring construction of "Italianate brick and
Terra Cotta.” Within four years the present science museum had been built as
‘well.56 The museums joined the churches in the area, and the city library
(since replaced by another building on the same site) in the complex of large
public buildings adjacent to the Armory.

. An 1899 map (Map 12) showed the isolated Main Arsenal with a new road
cut behind it. The road had probably been built sometime between the publica-
tion of the 1882 map, which does not show it, and this particular one. The
west end of Armory Square looked then much as it does today. '

E. 1901 to the Present

The first fifteen years of the twentieth century witnessed a great deal
of modernization at Springfield Armory. The files show numerous letters
concerning installation and modification of various sewer, water, gas, and
electric lines.36 Among other things, these files reveal that the internal
water system was changed somewhat when 'spring water was abandoned and city
water used" in the Commanding Officer's Quazrters and the hospital (formerly
the Master Armorer's Quarters) by July 1, 1902. They also show that by the
same date Springfield Armory was protected by thirteen fire hydrants, "not
including fire standpipes.”

The water system inspection in 1902 documents the existence of other
buildings, mentioning "2 greenhouses."$7 -These greenhouses appeared on a map
for the first time in 1904. Called "Root and Propagating Houses," they both
carry the Number 24. The Main Arsenal shows on this map as Number 13 and the
Commanding Officer's Quarters as Number 1. :

Other items of interest on the 1904 map--updated in 1905 and 1909--are
the water, sewer, and gas lines. Many appear to be the same lines which first

34, Whittlesey, ﬂExtracts," 1:66.

35. The four museums are discussed in a booklet (no author cited)
entitled The Quadrangle, produced by the Springfield Library and Museum Associa-
tion, 220 State Street, Springfield, Massachusetts, 01103.

36. See particularly Ordnance Department, Commanding Officer, Spring-
field Armory, Springfield Massachusetts, Central Correspondence, 1900-1915,
Record Group 156, Entry 1367, Files 68 and 95, NA.

37. 1Inspection Report, May 21-22, 1903, RG i56, Entry 1367, File 95, NA.
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Map 12. The Armory, 1899, from Atlas of the ity of Springfield,
Masesachusetts, C.J. Richards and Company, Cartographers,
Springfield, Massachusetts, 1899.




were shown on the 1864 and 1877 maps (Maps 8 and 10}. A new road and

walkway associated with the Main Arsenal show as well. The continued use of
spring water, with lines marked "spring water" on the 1904 map give graphic
evidence that the transition for the nineteenth to the twentieth centuries did
not come all at once.

By 1906 many of the buildings on the hill had most of the modern amenities.
The "officers quarters, storehouses, barracks, Etc" were heated by a steam-
plant. At the same time an "Electrie Light Plant" and "Gas Generator' served
the buildings lining Armory Square.3f About this time work was completed on
an eight-inch water pipe from the Armory to connect "with the City Water Main
on State Street nearly opposite the entrance on the Ammory Grounds."39

In 1908 a new gatehouse, officially "Gate-house Number 2 (Byers Street)"
was constructed. That building is Building No. 33 today.40 This gatehouse
replaced the original octagonal structure built in that location about 1875 or
1876. :

Electric light poles of the "United Electric Light Co." lined one side of
the Armory by 1910 (see Map 14), and what were apparently lights owned by the
Armory illuminated the Pearl Street side of the grounds. Some of these were
modified to "iron-base, gooseneck poles" for arc lights in 1915.41

In the surrounding community, the early vyears of the twentieth century
saw the present Springfield City Library rise along State Street, downhill
from the Armory. A Vermont marble structur# irn the "style of the Italian
Rennaissance," it was completed in 1912.42

No other major developments changed the scene at the west end of Armory
Square through. the 1930s. The manufacturing innovations, challenges, and
responses of World War I came and went with no major effect on the site. The
Springfield mystique surfaced again, however, in 1928 in an unsigned editorial
in Army Ordnance. :

Springfield Armory in this and other related aspects holds
a high place. It acts in close cooperation with commercial

38. Springfield Armory Correspondence, RG 156, Entry 1367, File 68, NA.

'39. The matter was approved following a May 17, 1905, request from
Springfield Armory to the Board of Water Commissioners; Springfield Axmory
Correspondence, RG 156, Entry 1367, File 95, NA, '

40. Historical Record, Springfield Armory, Massachusetts, June 30, 1930.

41. Springfield Armory to city of Springfield (letter), April 24, 1915,
RG 156, Entry 1367, File 95, NA.

42, The Quadrangle, p. 19.
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arms and ammunition companies. Its roster of military per-
sonnel contains, as in the past, the names of officers who
are renowned for their knowledge of the art. It possesses
a corps of.civilian employees whose 1life work and that of
their fathers before them is exemplified in the character
~of workmanship which is one of Springfield's glories.

Guardlan of our peace and homeland may Springfield, old
but ever young, continue with added glory her century

and a half of service--adding as it does to the assurance
that war will remain all the more remote and we shall con-
tinue to have

Pegee! and nmo longer from its brazen portals
The Blast of war's great organ shake the skies
And beautiful as songs of the immortals

The holy melodies of love arise.43

The mystique obviously could not show in the 1932 aerial photograph of
the Armory, but all the extant structures did. The greenhouses appear, but
seem to be larger than usual, and the northernmost greenhouse appears to have
lost one of the. w1ngs shown on the 1910 map. A tennis court on the west side
of the Main Arsenal is in place, but the Commanding Officer's Garage (Build-
ing 18) is not. With the exception of the greenhouses being present and the
garage being absent, the west end of the Armory in the 1932 photograph is
remarkably similar to the scene today. Even the cross-shaped rose trellis
near the northeast corner of the Commanding Officer’'s Quarters is present.

: The garage (Bulldlng 18), the most modern structure in today's park, was’
built in 1937 at a cost of $982.00. This was probably accomplished as part of
the WPA program {which saw Building 10 repaired, as weéll), The garage was
21.5 feet square and bore the label "“Garage For Quarters No. 1."44

The 1932 photograph and a 1955 map (Map 15) show the same scene. Vir- i
tually nothing is different. All of the buildings existing in 1932 still re-
mained in 1955, A pool located near the northwest corner of the Main Arsenal
appeared on both, but more clearly on the 1955 map. A 1850 photograph of
"Quarters No. 1," showed part of the pool (see Illustration 15). Having been
built five years after the 1932 photograph was taken, Building 18 appears
anly on the 1955 map. '

43. Army (Ordnance, "Springfield Armory” issue, July-August 1928; p. 48,
unsigned editorial; ‘it is little wonder that the editorial was unsigned.

44, "Historical Data of Buildings, Land, and Facilities at Hillshobs,

Watershops, Railhead, and Quablin Reservoir, Springfield Armory, USA, 30 .Junc
1955, revised January 1965 (chart on file at Springfield Armory).
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Iilustration 15. Quarters No. 1 (the Commanding Officer's
Quarters), 1950. The pool in the foreground is the one
shown in both Illustration 14, the 1932 photograph, and in
Map 15, the 1955 map. From Springfield Armory files, SA-

9897,
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By 1964 (Map 16) things had changed slightly. The two greenhouses were
gone (local recollections put the date of their destruction at 1958). The
pool and fountain near the northwest corner of the Main Arsenal had been
removed as well, The landscaping design, however, does not appear part1cu~
larly dlfferent when compared with the 1932 photograph

The 1964 map is more detalled something that is obvious at the first
glance: Each tree or group of trees is marked by common and scientific names.
The landscape foliage design as of 1964 is revealed as precisely as pos-
sible. The details show how the concepts of tree placement have changed since
1831. Armory Square of 1964 has z relatively sparse grouping of trees com-
pared to the closely grouped and regular lines of trees on the Green in 1831.
The formal gardens of the Commanding Officer's Quarters, so obvious in the
1864 and 1877 Shedd and Edson plans had given way to a line of "Bartlett,"
"Anjou," and '"Russett"” pear trees, and a field of grass by 1964, The wkst end
of the Armory, then, had essentlally reached the p01nt in 1964 where we mow
find it today.

There remained one change. 1In 1968 the city of Sprlngfleld school system
carved out three practice football areas in the flat land in and around the
Maln Arsenal. Two fields went in just west of the Main Arsenal and Building

, and- one went where the gardens had been. That was the last major altera-
tlon to the grounds and buildings at the west end of Armory square.
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CHAPTER V: STRUCTURES DATA AND HISTORICAL REFERENCES

Springfield Armory was the object of a study conducted by a team of five
National Park Service professionals from August 6-10, 1967. Roy E. Apple-
man, Chief of the Branch of Park History Studies, served as the coordinator.
Dr. Ernest Allen Comnally, Chiéf of the Office of Archeology and Historic
Preservation, and Russell V. Keune, Acting Keeper of the National Register,
assisted in the team's work at Springfield. The field team consisted of
Frank B. Sarles, a historian, and Denys P. Myers, an architectural historian.

The work of this group resulted in a report entitled Springfield Avmory:
Bvaluation Under Proviston of Historic Preservation Act of 1966, published by
the Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Natiomal Park Service, in
August 1967. This report, which may have been the first produced under the
provisions of the 1966 act, contained a general description of the site, a
brief historical narrative, and descriptions (including some history) of the
buildings examined, and blended historical and architectural qualities.

The buildings examined included Building 1, the Commanding Officer's
Quarters; Building 10, the Master Armorer's Quarters; and Building 13, the
Main Arsenal. 1In order to avoid duplication of effort, these portions of the
1967 report are reproduced here, with any additional material which has
surfaced in the interim added in an "additional data" essay following each
report. Appropriate photographs are integrated into the report as
required.

A. Building No. 1

As related earlier, the Commanding Officer's Quarters were built under
Major Ripley's direction in 1845-46 to replace the earlier structure on the
site of the present Building No. 13. When in 1846 the controversies in which
the aggressive Ripley had become embroiled resulted in the institution of a
military court of inquiry to investigate his conduct, one of the thirteen
charges related to his construction of such elaborate quarters.

An excellent example of the Greek Revival style, Ripley's 'palace" is a
two-storied brick house 50 by 44 feet, with a 52 by 27 feet service ell paral-
lel with the three-bayed entrance facade. The hipped roof of the main block
is surmounted by a brick cupola supported on the interior partitions, which
are also constructed of brick. The generous scale allows for two west drawing
rooms, 18 by 21 feet; a vestibule, 10-1/2-feet wide hall and square study in
the center; and a 16-1/2 by 18 feet reception room, stair hall, and dining
room 16-1/2 by 18-1/2 feet, in the east portion of the main block. The first
floor ceiling height is approximately 14 feet. The interior trim is extremely
simple, the only enrichment of the plaster cornices consisting of a band of
guttae in the hall. The plan of the second floor is essentially similar to
the first floor layout. The first-floor mantelpieces are later replacements

91




dating from about 1900. The second-floor mantelpieces are original simple
marble examples. The original six-over-six-light cupola windows have been
altered to one-over-one-light sash. The paneled wooden roof parapets were
removed about 1870, when an iron snow rail was substituted. A bay window was
added to the dining room. The rectangular transom of the main entrance was
altered to an elliptical fanlight, and the sidelights and transom fitted with
leaded glass about 1900, Around 1870 the most conspicuous exterior alteration
occurred, when the original distyle Doric entrance portico, Doric west porch,
and ell porch were removed and the present delicate cast-iron porches were
built.l ' .

Additional Data

The source material which has surfaced since the 1967 Fvaluation does not
disagree to any great degree with that report. Purchase orders (mentioned in
Chapter I1I of this study) show that construction on the house continued into
" at least the summer of 1847. This would enlarge the construction dates to
span the 1845 to 1847 period, of course. But this is hardly of major con-
sequence to the history of the house. Another less than vital correction to
be made is the date of the present porch. The detailed drawings of the
Commanding Officer's Quarters and the Master Armorer's Quarters, executed in
1876, show the original porch still in position (these drawings will be
utilized in the Architectural Data Section of this report, as will interior
photographs of the structure taken at about the turn of the century.) The 1877
Shedd and Edson topographical plan tends to confirm this. So the present front
-porch postdates 1876. The illustration in Xing's Handbook, dated 1884, also
shows the older porch. Therefore, the present porch postdates 1884. The 1930
"Historical Record" provides some appreciation of the size and magnificence of
the structure, and it is quoted in part below,

7400 .s5q. ft.; steam heat; electric lighting; water and
sewer connections; % awnings; 5 bath and 3 laundry tubs;
10 fire-places; 5 steam radiators; 1 gas range; 7 water
- closets; 42 window shades; date of completion 1845
[should be 18471 ; original cost $24,900; appraised value,
- $60,000.2 - .

A final consideration concerns the gardens associated with the Commanding
Officer's Quarters. Photographs taken from Springfield Armory Museum files
and labeled "before 1950 when gardens were tended” show trimmed hedges and
semiformal gardens lining the driveway to the rear of the Commanding Officer's
Quarters. They remain only in part today. The rose arbor shown in the
photographs (Illustrations 16 and 17) remains today, but in poor condition.

Aside from the 1864 and 1877 topographical plans, this is the only solid
evidence yet for the existence of formal gardens associated with the Commanding

1. -Sarles, Evaluation, pp. 20-21.

2. Historical Record, Springfield Armory, sheet 1.
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Illustration 16. The rear of Building No. 1, front of
Building No. 18 (Garage) and front of Building No. 23
(Greenhousge) circa 1949. The inscription on this photograph
reads '"before 1950 when gardens were tended." From Springfield
Armory Museum files 9897A.

IT1lustration 17. The driveway to Building No. 1. This
photograph is marked exactly as Illustration 16.




Officér's Qﬁartérs. Obviously, the gardens shown in Illustrations 16 and
17 are south of the greenhouse. Whatever existed north of the greenhouse,
circa 1944, is still unknown.

B. Building No. 10

Two brick houses built in 1833 have virtually unaltered exteriors.
Building No. 10, now officer's quarters, was earlier used as a hospital. A
Greek Revival building of two stories with three-bay pedimented front and
slate-covered gabled roof, it measures 40 feet 5 inches by 32 feet 5 inches
with a two-story ell, 29 feet 5 inches by 17 feet 3 inches. The windows have
six-over-six-light sash. The front gable has a semielliptical window. The
second story of the rear porch is not original. The notably attractive
features, in addition to the good proportions and workmanship, are the Ionic
~entrance portico and the carved ball trim under the eaves. The interior has
simple trim, plaster cornices, and a side hall plan.d

Additional Data

Little needs to be added to the data above or in Chapter II of this
study, Roswell Lee apparently had to overcome many objections to construct
this structure as well as one for the paymaster. Permission came in 1832, and
the next year construction began.? Construction of these two, plus two other
dwellings, continued through that year and the mext. The inspector's report
for 1835 included a .comment on them which is surprising in view of the success-
ful and continuing career of the buildings into the 1960s.

The new Houses and pay office recently built for the
Master Armorer § Paymaster have good walls and roofs--
The finish of their interior is below mediocrity as
regards materials and workmanship.d

Some work apparently carried over into 1837, since the inspector that
year commented on what today is called a "cost overrun." - The "4 Brick Dwell-
ing Houses'" estimated to cost $10,000, had run up to $15,319.61 and only
three were finished nearly."® (Is thlS yet another instance of Springfield
Armory passing on its heritage to the present?)

It is still unknown as to why and exactly when the management of the
Armory moved the Master Armorer's Quarters The date of the move fell between

3. Sarles, Evaluation, p. 30.
4. Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory,'" p. 151.

5. Report of Inspector, October 13-November 4, 1835, RG 156, Entry 1003,

6. Report of Inspector, September 9-13, 1837, RG 156, Entry 1003, NA.
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1877 and 1882, but exactly when during that five-year span has not yet been
determined.

The repairs made to the structure by the WPA around 1937 produced some
changes to be discussed in detail in the Architectural Data Section of this
report. .Likewise, the detailed 1876 drawings of the structure will be part of
that report.

C. Building No. 13

The Main Arsenal, probably the best known of the Armory buildings, was
begun in mid-1847 and completed three years later at a cost of $86,066. It is
a featured motif on the official seal of the City of Springfield, adopted two
years after the Main Arsenal was completed. During the Civil War, the build-
ing was the scene of an abortive sabotage attempt by Confederate agents, who
placed a bomb in the tower.

The imposing scale of Main Arsenal grandly dominates the west end of the
Parade. The architectural character is more formal and unified than that of
any other building considered, not even excepting the Commanding Officer's
Quarters. The 2-1/2 feet-thick brick walls are strongly articulated by first
floor piers and, above a string course, two-story-high pilasters. The Main
Arsenal's 15-bay facades measure 199 feet across with a massive tower 24 by 30
feet facing the Parade and a pedimented pavilion 12 by 69 feet on the west
side. The ends of the building are 69 feet deep. The tower rises two full
stories about the cornice line of the slate-covered hipped roof and bears
three clock faces, the fourth being in the west pediment. A mast-sized
flagpole rises from the center of the tower roof behind a battlemented par-
apet. The round-arched first floor windows have stone panels beneath them and
are surrounded by stone rusticated architraves. The rectangular second floor
windows, hung with twelve-over-twelve-light sash, have simpler stone arch-
itraves with pediment-shaped lintels. The third floor windows are similar,
with rectangular stone architraves and flat lintels. A wooden pancled parapet
surmounts the roof, The only significant exterior alteration, except for the
addition of two cement loading docks and a fire escape, has been the removal
of the wooden one-story tetrastyle Greek Doric portico from the west pavilion.
The structural system of the open plan interior is supported by cast-iron
Doric columns 13 feet on center through the basement and remarkably light
cross-plan cast-iron posts 13 feet on center on the first and second floors.
The third floor is completely unobstructed. The most remarkable feature of
the interior is the magnificent visually unsupported open wooden stairway
which spirals in a sweeping curve 131 risers to the uppermost chamber of the
tower.”

Additional Data

From the'beginning the arsenal served as a weapons storehouse. It
continued in that capacity for most of its military life. As a storehouse--

7. Sarles, Evaluation, pp. 23-25.
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Illustration 19. The Main Arsenal (Building No. 13) prior
to 1899. Note the sentry box placed to view the rear of
Buildings No. 13 and 17 (the Paymaster's Quarters) and the
front of Building No. 1 (the Commanding Officer's Quarters).



classically an arsenal--it underwent some modifications. In 1897 a hydraulic
elevator 'capable of carrying a load of 1,200 pounds to the third floor" was
placed in-the building, adding 'greatly to the value of the building as a
storehouse."é Within eight years the water supply to the elevator, "hereto-
fore insufficient," had been augmented by a new pipe.9

During December 1912 and the first three months of 1913, water sprinklers
were emplaced in the Main Arsenal. Building No. 14, another arsenal, also
received water sprinklers at the same time,I0

The next major change occurred in 1941 when the present elevator was
installed and the platform built into the base of the tower. The building,
while continuing as a storage facility, also served as an office for the
ordnance department's "Field Service.! By 1950, part of the ordnance dis-
trict's regional office also moved to the bu11d1ng, which received the MU S eumn
collection it houses today.l? -

D. Miscellaneous Structures
1. Building No. 18

Building No. 18, the Garage for Building No. 1, is discussed in Chap-
ter IV. '

2.  Building No. 33

Like Building No. 18, Building No. 33 is discussed in Chapter IV. The
1930 "Historical Record' {Sheet 53) describes the Gatehouse for Gate 2.

108 sq ft; built 1908; slate roof, cement floor; brick
foundation; no heat; electric light; 14 x 12; $1,000
value; Cost $498.00.

E. Nomenclature

Since Springfield Armory has a two hundred year history, it is a site
which has a heritage of different names for the same sites. Tt might be wise
to consider naming the sites and structures which are frequently discussed

8. U.S., Congress, House, ”Report'of the Chief of Ordnance.," in Annual
Report of the War Department for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1897, p. 19,

9. U.S., Congress, House, "Report of the Chief of Ordnance," in Annual
Report of the War Department for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1905, p. 58.

10. Contract, December 16, 1912, in Springfield Armory Museum files.

11. TInterview, Thomas Wallace, by John Albright, April 28, 1976, copy on
file, Denver Service Center, Natlonal Park Service.
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. in order to avoid any confusion. (Different titles for the same sites or

buildings have already appeared in some recent National Park Service docu-
ments.) With this in mind, the following are submitted for con51derat10n

, Building No. 1, the Commanding Officer‘s_Quarters
Building Ne. 13, the Arsenal
"Building No. 10, the Master Armorer's Quarters
Building No. 18, the Garage for the Commandlng Officer's Quarters

Building No. 33, the Gatehouse . _ ¥
The campus can be called Armory Sguare,

Since Springfield Armory was not a military fort by a manufacturing
center, the central grassed area should probably not be called "the Parade"
as has been the practice. Nor should Building No. 1 be called the "Comman -
dant's Quarters." It was so called only for a brief period in the late.
nineteenth century, and connotes a dwelling for a superintendent of a military
school, something Springfield Armory was not. ‘

F. Planning and Development

This study traces not bn1§ the deVelopment of Springfield Armory, but

shows the strong and continued relatiomship that the Armory and the city have

shared since the Revolutlonary War. As Derwent Whlttlesey wrote in hlS 1920

‘history of the site,

the town has moulded the Armory and has by the Armory
been moulded in turn. To divorce them would be to sacri-
fice their joint history.I2 ‘

With '"their joint history" as a major quality of the 51te, it follows
that the National Park Service should no more damage that aspect of the
heritage of the site than it should capriciously change an existing historic
structure {which, of course, it would not do). To do otherwise would not keep
intact the resource as received by the Park Service, nor would it be sound
historic preservation,

One method. of keeping the relationship of city and Armory intact is to
plan for development, interpretation, and overall management of the park as a
part of the city in which it exists. With the city actively ‘encouraging.
preservation of its monumental structures near the Armory, this becomes im-
perative. And it provides an exciting prospect for an integrated series of

~cultural and public sites serving the visiting public.. For a small city like

Springfield to have so many important assets is unusudl. It is more unusual
for the Park Service to be presented with such a clear opportunity to plan and
develop an urban historic site which is so deeply at the heart of not only the
city's past but its present, To respond to this unique opportunity the Park

Service will have to initiate close and continuing contacts with those planning

12, Whittlesey, "Springfield Armory," Chapter 9; see Appendix D.
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for the development and management of the city's cultural and public resources.
To do less would be "to sacrifice thelr joint history."

G. Collections Conservation and Management

The heart of the museum at the arsenal is the gun collection. This
collection is being administered by a curator and is not addressed in this
study. Other materials merit some attentlon however,

The museum collectlon contains documents and photographs which should be
surveyed by the appropriate professionals {1ibrarians, curators, and arch-
ivists}. Following this appraisal of the scope of the collectlon and - as-
sociated conservation and management needs, the necessary steps to care for

the collection and make it available to researchers can be taken. It is

likely that the photographic files alone will demand considerable work before
they are ready for use. Since current planning included alternatives making
the armory museum a research center, a plan to care for and to manage the
documentary resources at a park should probably be written and implemented as
soon as possible following the survey of the collection. Ultimately, the gun
collection and supporting documents and photographs might be 1ntegrate& into a
system which allows ease of management, control, and conservation as well as
some sort of cross-referencing for researchers.
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CHAPTER VI: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL RESEARCH

A, Historic Resource Study

This combination grounds study and historic. structure report will suffice
for immediate planning, development, and management needs. But a thorough
historic resource study needs to be completed for Sprlngfleld Armory to pro-
vide data for long-range management, development, and interpretation. At a
minimum, this study should examine the manufacturing process at Springfield
Armory and how it developed during the plant's history. The relationship of
the Armory to national history and to the development of the city of Spring-
field also needs to be covered. - The study should be initiated as soon as
preliminary planning has reached a point where the general tone of the inter-
pretive message at the park is determined. With the interpretive message
known, the resource study can address the needs of the interpretive planners
as well as others involved in planning and management.

B. Historic Furnishing Study

Should decisions be made which would result in the furnishing of either
the Commanding Officer's Quarters or the Master Armorer's Quarters, an
appropriate historic furnishing study will have to be made. This is not of
the highest priority, and should be done only if one or both of the bulldlngs
are restored.
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APPENDIX A

TITLE AND JURISDICTION OF THE SPRINGFIELD ARMORY
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This data is taken from pages 105-111 of James B. McCrellis, Milifary
Reservations, National Military Parks, and National Cemeteries, Title and
Jurisdietion, prepared in the Judge Advocate General's office (Washington,
D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1898). This book is in the collections
of the U.S, Army Military History Research Collection, Carlisle Barracks,

Pennsylvania,
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SPRINGFIELD ARMORY.

This reservation is situnted ut Springticld in Hampnlen (;mmty The

tlﬂc s as fellows:
. BDeed from Natis iniel Pufton dmd wife fo the nlted Stales, dated

311:10_22, 5, couveying T aere and 2 roods of nd with privilege of

ereeting ft,d.un wie, Deed rw mt!wl in oftice of the Registry of l)uwis
for H‘nn])-\lmu © ‘inly, duue 2, U700,

2, Deed from JJolin Ashitey wnd wits to the United States, daled
September 19, 1703, conveying I acre Sl 136 rods of Tund with the
privilege of @ e(t'n:,z a Qi ete. Deed recorded freotiice of Hegistey
ol Deeds for Hhaspshive County, September 44, 17493,

3. Deed from the lndmbitants of the Tow n of Spaiu«-ﬁvhl to the
United States, dated August 24, 1501, conveying 30 acves 2 vods and
M orods, Do ul recorded in }:hu 4, folio 216, ol the deed records of
ILunp\hn'(, County.

Deed from Jonathan Dwight et f!T to the United States, dated

()Lt()hu: 16,1807, conveying 139 pereles of Tunl, Deed recovdd e Liber
47, fulio .')Hi of the deat records of Lhinnpshive Gounty.

Deed from James Byevs lo the Uaited States, dafed January 4,
Ib(l{) conveying ot in Springtield; aren not given.  Deed recorded in
Liber 47 iy folio 618, ol the deed revords of Hamypshive County,
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6, Deed fram Johin Ashh\' to the Tnited Stales, dated Tfmu.wy 10,
1809, vonveying 117 vrods of Ll Preed vecorded m Lilyer 84, pages 1_4
ett.., of tho deed reenrtdx of Hampshive County.

7. Deed fvom Geradd Warner Lo tlm Uuited States, dided Mareh 2
1869, um:vv;uw T aeres and 95 vodx, 7 Deed pecordad i Liber 50, flio
156, nt the deed recovds of lf,unp\huv ounty.

& Deed from the Town of bp:m'-lwirl 1o the United Blates, dabedd
September 2, 1803, conveying 127 rods of land,  Deed vecorded in Libier
49, folio 310, of tha dead vecords of H-un}Mm'p Jounty.

‘} Deed from Danicl Asfiley and wife o the Vuited States datod
APt 1T, 1808, conveving 15 acves,  Deed recorded in Libwer 30 folio
207, of the dend vesords of Hampslive Connty.

10, Deed frondomthay Dwight, jrg o the Erreifed 84 n.\ ‘...ml REHIT
10, 1305, conveying 3 acres,  Decd recorded in Liboe 50, ol o
the deed records of Hampshire Connd s,

1. Deed from ducoh Bliss to the United St tes, it leed !)l wenthin H,
1868, eonveying 60 rods of Taud,  Deed recorded in Liber !uhu N3,
of the deed records of ampshive Connty,

12, Deed trom Willion Carlisle to the United States, didfed I.u nary
&, !‘\ll conveying 6 neres and 79 vods of kol Deal recovded in
L il\m' i1, folio 305, of the deed records of iunnpal-ng oennty.

13, !)wd from Trusters of the Nelool 37 wids in Town of hpunrr!u-]cl
to the UniledStates  dated Moy 8, 202 convesiug 15 sieres 2 vowls atid
30 rods of land. Deed recorded in Liber 49, folio G4 ¢te,, of the deed
le.'m:l\ of Hampshive Conuty,

Decd fromdnmes Byevs aemd wite (o the Dnited Staies, dated May
iu. ISI.}. conveying 72 vods of fand, - Deed yecorted in Libe TN Totio
bl‘J nf' the deed I('(‘ﬂl"f}“- of Hampshive ¢ m"xf"

. Beed from JSones Corew awd wile o tho, Tuiced Ntates, daled
\To.\ I3, ISE2, convexing o lob in Speingtiehl, Deed yvecorded in Libier
b, tulm G617, of the doed records of 1 unpshive County,

_ 36, Deed from Calvin Bavred wid wife {o the {nived Blates, dateord
’\L\\ 13, 18102, conveving o lot in L‘i'!mffhl-id Doed resorded in Libey
B}, Tolin 635, of {thedeed rovards of Hampehive County.

17, Deed from Oheld Wright and wite to 1he United S ates, duted
May T4, 1812, conveying 17 mods of land.,  Deed recorded in Liber a3y
mhu G20, of the deed records of {Timmpshive Connty,

Deed from Josian f omstoek and wile Lo the United States, dated
M'iy 16, 18010 eomveying 349 reds, ele ol Iand, Deed recorded in Liber
5, Totio 21, 0f the iised pee m([\ of II.mqu\hm- Couniy.

1, Deed froam Witkiam Woul, A, it wit to Lhie Dinited Blades,
dated \!.n' LIS, conveving o Tat in sSpringicld, - Dead yoeorded in
Filer 52 folio 622, of (he deed pece s of Humpshive Conaty,

0, Ih't-d from By Cuonley and wiles to The Unifed States, dated May
AN ISP conveying o lot in Npeingtield,  Deed recorded i Libor 53,
iulm 625, of the decd records of Timpshive Conndy,

2L Peed from Lemuel Wheeler Lo the United Stafes, dated Fune 4,

IS12, conveying O30 qere. Deed vecorded in ! ther 33, tadio B4, ol 1[!0 :

doed records of Hampshive Comdy.

22, Dewd from George Blake aud witie to £ United 84 ales, duted
Jum- Sy 1817, conveying & aeves il 3 vonds,  Doed pecorded in Liber
62, folio 2 a‘J, of {he decd vecords of 1 impuhm-\' iy,

2% Deed from the Trasters of 1he Selool Fieds, efe,, to the United
States, daied Seplomber 30, 1817, conveying twa {racts i Npringiiedd,
Dreed vevorded in biber 61, fidio 240, of Lhe dewd records of Hampshive
County, .
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24, Deed from John Ashicy to the United Stutes, dated May 27,
1819, conveying 80 square vads aoid Ded of river. Jeed recorded in
Liber G4, folin H11, of the deed vecorifs of Hampsihire County.

25, Dewl from Samuael Waener and wifes et al. to the Umited Biates,
dated Angust 5, 1522, puttveying 5 acres and 93 vods, . Deced veehrded
in the oftice ot tho Legistry of Deeds in [Lunpden Conuty, September
21, 18232,

26, Deed fram Wilian Cavtisle to the United Stafes, dated June 24,
1824, Lunvc}mv 2 aeves I raed and 87 rods,  Deed wc,m.dsd in Lﬂier
11 iuho 48, ot the deed records of Urneden (;mmty,

27, Deod Fron Thaddeus Fervo to the United s Htnter, dated dnne 2

1824, contuining 2 avres and G0 rmdx ol Band. Dead u-umlvd in le(:
%1, tolio 343, of “Lhe dend veeords of [lanspeden County.

53, Deed from Lesuted Charter 1o tho United Stales, dubed A;ml 21,
1845, conveyiug 2 aeves quel 92 rods, Deed resorded in Liber 74, folie
633, of the deid 1('(,()]([% ol Thanpden County.

43, Deed from Solomon Hateh to the United States, dated Seplem-
ber 14, 1823, conveying 40 vods of bend and right ol way, el Deed
wunded in Liber 73, fulio 186, of the dead vee ords of !Lnu;uh:u Conuty.

A Deed from Abirun Movgan to the United States, dated Deceme
ber 20, h:i ;uonveying a \pmw ol water, ete, eed vecorded in filler

folio T2 l of the dmd recoras of Hampdm; County.,

)i Deed Trom Sonad han Prwight, Jdr., and wife to the United Bt shl\.,
dated July 3, 1830, conveyting 550 acres,  Doed vecorded i Hber 82,
ioho 174, of e tlm'(l recosis of Hampden County,

A l'fvu[ from. Hemer J. Wood e wite to 1he U mie'li Htates, dated

. I“{.bilhl!‘ 220 1845, conveying @ fob fn vm"(u Lkl 1leed n-u-,ded in
Y = 1

dbm 123, loliv P of Hu' deed recovds of Th ;m--tix-n Gonuty.

33, Deed from Wilter 11, Bowidain and wite to 1he United Staios,
dated May 23, 1845, couveying w lob in Springtield.  Deed recorded in
Liber 127, folio 4115 of the deed records of [anpden Canndy,

34, Deead from ‘wamud_( wrrier ansd wite to the United States, dated
AMay 26, 1843, conveying 25 vods of tand, with resevvations, ele. Peed
recorded In Liber 123, follo 1977, of the désd veenrdsot Hnpden Conndy.,

35, Decd from George Bliss snd wite fo the Uwifed States dated May
26, 18543, conveying a lob in Springtield. Deed vecordet in Lilrer 125
folio 174, of the dewd records of Thangdeon Oo mty

St Dcul from Persis Taylov to the Wnbed Sties, dated May 31,1815,
eonveyiug 6 s of tand,  Dewd vecorded i 1 ll.‘-l"L 120, delin 133, of the
deed records of ampden Couuty,

37, Deed from I,oaw fele lenewick o tha United Sates, daded Oalober
15, 1815, eouveving aw lof in ‘~pimnhvld Preod wun(twl in Lilser 130,
foho Hi of the deed recovds of Hannpden County,

08 Déed from Witliam Sheldon o the United S wes, daled Helobm
23, 1845, conveying Jobs tn Hpringheld, Dol yacorded in Liber 131,
folio 118, of the dvced vacowds of H: mmlh‘h Counuly,

30, Dol from Jates Grewer to the United Stales, dated July 15,
1543, conveying 12 nores sl waley ptxv;lamw. Dead recorded in Liber
I3, fo!m 1246, of the decd records of .mmch » oty

40, Deetd from tho Inlahitanis of Springtield to the thited Stales,
dated Oelohor 12, 16, conveying by way uf exchnme nl cerfain s
by .utthm‘liy ol an aet af Luls"wsw approved March 5, 18 B I reridd
recorded in Liber 132, folio 336, of ihe deed rocords of Thuupden Connty.

$10 Deed fromt James AL Erook o the United Stetes) dabed Oetoboer
2, 1546, couveying Lals 9 und 10 also wostrip 3 feet wids adjoining tha
RATHC S b \l;.ep S ofees wide on Sinaner Stvect, o Deed reeorded in
Libey 135, Lufiv 110, of the Qdecd vecords ot Hampden Uounty.
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42, Teed front James M. Crook o the Tuited States, dated October
2, 1846, eonveying by velease all inlevest in Swnber Street, Deed
recorded i Liler 152, fidio 336, of the deed rccords of Hampden
County. - : : ' -

43, Dreed from Jaines Drewer to the TTeiled States, dated {Jetober

19, 1846, conveying by way of velease wil intorest in eertain vomds.

Preed recorded in Liber 133, folio 312, of the deed vecords of Flaupden
County. '

41, Deed from James Brewer Lo the Tinited Stateg, dated October
10, 1846, conveying o ot m Springfield,  Decd recorded in Liber Uik,
folia 150, ot the deed vecords of Hampden County,

43. Deed from Namuel Dade aud wite fo the Tinjted States, dated
Novewmber 16, 1846, conveying a lot in Springtield. Deed recorded in
Liber 132, folio 426, ot the decid vecords of Hinppden County,

16, Deed from Walter I, Bowdein antt wite to the Ulnited States,
dated Novembit 50, 1546, conveying a lobin Springticld. Peed vecorded
in Liber 132, folio 423, ot the deed vecouids of Hampden Connty.

47. Deed from Walter H. Bowdoin and wite to the United States,
dated Deeember 15, 137, conveying 120 squave vods of Tamd in Spring.
fiold. Dieed resovded in Liber 139, @olio 483, of the deed vewovds of
Frampden Coanty.

18, Deed from Walter 1T, Bowdoin and wife fo the $Tnited States,

“dated Devember 18, 1847, conveying Lors 6 and 7 of Gotiage Home-

653

stead, in Springiield, et Dreed recorded in Liber 110, tolio 255 of the
deed veeorts of Hampden Connty, ‘

40, Peed from Wilter U, Bowdoin and wife et al. to the United
States, dated Déeember 18, 1817, conveying Lot 8 of Cottuge Home-
slaad, i Springiicld,  Deads vecorded In Liber 140, folio 235, of the
deod records of Hampden Couniy. : .

56, Deed from Ceorgs . Bond to the United States, duted Febouary
28, 1848, conveying 5 roods of Tand. Deed recorded in Liber 140, tulio
219, of the deed records of Tampden County.

51, Beed from Jumes fndicott awd wite oi al. 10 the Untted States,
dated March 31, 1848, conveying Lob b in Colinge Homestead, addition
fo Hpringlicld,  Doed reconded in Liber (11 folio 220, ot tha deed ree-
ords of Hawpden ounty.

59, Deed from Walter . Towdoin awd wife to the United States)’

dated Soptemnber 50, 1848, conveying 2 voods of Tand, Deeil recorded in

Liber 115, folio 170, of the deed vecards of Thanpden County.

52 Deed rom Reaben A, Clupman and wifs to the United States,
dated Septembior 22, 1848, conveying by veleaso, ele, a lotin Spring.
ficld,  Deed vecorded in Liber 133, tolio 215, of the deed records of
Hampden County. : :

B Deed from ol Al and wids Lo the United Stades, dated Bep-
fember A0, 18158, cauveying by velease, ate, o fol in Springlield, Decd
recorded in Dook 10 puge 610, of the deed recovds of Hnpden
Gounty. . - fo

55, Deed from Jaeoh Ladd and wife {o the Unifed Stotes, dated
Jupuary £ 1840, conveying 10 aeres 3 cands and 554 rods of Taud,
Dead recordid in Book LG, page 2836, of the deed records of Hantpden
Caunty.

C 56, Dreed from Corhin 0, Wood and wife b al, Lo the Huited States,
dated Fehrusvy 1 IS, conviying 45 actes 2 roods and 513 vods of
Tand, ele,  Deed recovded in Book 118, page 240, of the deed recovds
of Hampden Coundy.

57. Dewd from Bisha Benton and wife o the United States, dated
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February 1, 1849, conveying 7 acres and 4 rods of 1nd, ete. Deed
recorded in Book 146, page 253, of the deed reeords of Ylampden
County.

58, Deed rom Laman Spencer and wife to the United States, dated
TFebruary d, 1849, conveying a tract of land in Springfield, ete.  Deed
recorded in Book 146, page 289, of the deed records of Hampden
Counly. T '

S Beed from Reth Thayer and wife to the United States, dated
Tebraury 1, 1540, conveying o treet in Springtield.  Doed recovded in
Book 46, page 284, of the deed records of Hantpudon Connty,

60 Dlecdd from Chanles TN Lo Warner and wife to the United States,
dated Febroary 10, 15349, conveying 3 acres 2 roods and 6 rods of laud,
ete. Dheed vecorded in Book 146, page 285, of (he-deed records of
Hampden County. -

GL Deed from James W, Crooks, Guardian, ete., fo the United States,

sdated Mareh 2201849, conveying 8 acres 3 roods and 87 rods of lind,

ete,  Deed pecorded in Book LG, puge 513, ele., of the deed records of -

Hampden Gounty. :

62 Deed from Orein O, Andros to the Paited Shates, dated Mareh
23, IS, conveying b rods of land, cte. Deed revorded in Book 147,
page 34, of the deed vecords of Hampden Connry, ‘

w03, Deed from Sophin Churter aud hustand to the. United Stutes,
dated May 21, 1819, conveying £ acves 1 rooid and 55 rods.of Tand, cte.
Deed recorded in Liber 150, 1olio 162, of the dead reconds of 1lampden
Counly, _ ’ -
tid, Deed from Roswellb St wd wife o the-United States, dated
Barch 13, 1831, conveying o tract of land in Spriugtield, with roadway,
et Dol recorded in Libar 159, folio 139, of the dedd records of
Hampden County. _

G5, Deed from the Trostees of the Schoo] Punds, ele., fo the Unitesd
Brates, duled Augish 30, 1851, conveying strip of od for asidewalk,
Deed recorded in Liber 166, tolio 93, of the deed records of Hapden
County. ‘ ‘

66, Deed from Persis Taylor to the United Stades, dated June 1, 1852,
conveying p trael of Tnnd in Springtield, Desd recorded in Liber 160,
folio 300, of the decd records of Lnpden County.

G7. Deed from the Western 1ailvoad Company to the United States,
dated Juas 19 1552, conveying eovtain water vighis, casenents, ele,
Beed recorded in Liber 166, thlio 96, ol the deed records of Lhanjden
Couunty. .

63, Decd from George Bliss aud wite o the United States, ditod
July 8, 1856, conveytig 1 aeres amd 2282 vods of Lurd npor condition,
ete. Deed revovded in Book 183, page 373 of the dead records of
Hampden County, _ ' .

69, Deed from Jumes TU Arees and wite fo the United Siates, dated
July DY 1856, eomveying o traes of fand In Springlicld,  Deed recorded
in Liber 182, fotio 311, of the decd vecords of Dampden Couny.

70, Deed from Thomas Noox and wife to the United sStates, dated

_—

Octobier 135, 1857, conveying a tract of Tand to vaise heighl, of dam, efe,-

Beed recorded in Book 193, page 63, of the deed yerords of | Lampedien
County., '
1L Deed from fTeney Jo Faller and wife to the United States, dated
October 15, 1557, eonveying a fraeh of buwd to vaise heit of din, ele,
Deed recorded in Book 193, page 12, of the deed reeords of Hampden
Conuty, e
2 Deed frow John Ashley and wite Lo Gho United Slates, dated
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- October 17, 18537, conveying u tract of land to raise height of dam, cte.
- “Dued recorded in Boolk 193, page 114, of the deed records of Hampden

County.

73, Decd from Tlezekiah Burt and wife to the (nited States, dated
Qctober 19, 1857, conveying u tract ol land to raise tlie height of dam,
eto, Dom! recorded in Bool 193, page 1‘15, of the (lu,tl records of
]Ltmptlcn County.

7, Decd from lhnmmy AL Fleteher to the U mlwl Std!vh, dateil
Qctober 21, 187 4, conveyimg a track of ind to raise height of dam, ete.
Deed vecorded in Book 193, page 1. 4, o the deed recor ds of Hampden
C(mnty

i Deed from R, 8. Austin and wife to the Unifed States, dated
Oclober 31, 1857, conveying cerlain tracts of land to raize height of
dam, ete, l)('o:l recorded in Book 193, page S, of the deed records of
Hampden Connty,

%6, Deed from Samnel Walker and wifs {o the United States, dafed
October 31, 1357, convey mu atracl of Tand to raice height of Qam,y ete.
Deed recorded in Book 183, page 16, of the deed records of Hampden
County.

77. Deed Jrow Philos B Tyler and wite to the oitad Btates, dated
November 2, 1857, cunveying o tract of land to vaise Tivight of d.uu, efe.
Deed vecorded fu Book B3, page 16, of the deed reeords of Hampden
County.

8. Deed from Charles G, Rice and wite to 1he United %f.\.te%, dated
November 1, 1857, 'mlw\mn the vight to flow s Bed by raising dam
1G feet, Deed rcuri‘dvd in Dok l'h, pige t4, of {ho deed 1(3501‘!-.0&-
Iampilen Connty,

9. Deed Crom-Jonathan Carlisle and wile to the United States, dated
Novetnber 3, (837, conveying tinets of Land to raise height of dam, ete,
Deod recorided in Book 103, page 59, of the deed 10001(15 of II'uupden
Connty.

50. Peed from Samnel Aspinwall, Gmodian, ete,, to the United
States, dated November 12, 1857, conveying tracls of land {o raise
height of dam, ete, Doed recorded in Book 193, page 57, of the deed
records of ]Lnnpdon Connl y.

8t Theed tmm Elisha Benton eof all to the WUnited States, d: ttvd
Deeember 2, LS537, conveying lands fo vaive heipght of dam, vte, Decd
recorded in hml\ IS, page 2, of 1he deed recurds of Hampden
Couut.y

82, Deed from The City of Springtield to the United States, dated

_ Trew mnbm 8, 1847, comveying al vight in certain highways and refeise
| S of damago !n llm\a:;c-, efe.  Tleed vecorded in .‘;on!\ 1YL, page 111, of
R : {he dee  records of Hampden Connty,

o 83 Dead from Beih Thayer and wile to he I!miml Hlates, dated
Decembey Wy 1857, o mw\u:,‘ a el of Tind to raise hu*-htoi dam,
ete. Decd vevordied fn Book 19, page 116, of the deed vecords of
ITampden County, :

ShoBead from Drvid BL Asldey and wife to Che United Sartos, deated

December [5, 1857, conveying a traet of Tnod to yaixe ht'l"hl'.()l dam,
cte,  Deed recorded in Book 13, page 152, of {he deed records of
Tlampden Connty,
\ 83, Deed leom Daniel Gay and wife to the United States, dated
December 211837, canveying a tract of had to raise beight of dam,
cte, Deed recorded in 13 ook 193, page 153, of {he deed records of
Taumpden Contutby,

86. Deed from Daniel Charter and wife to the Tnited States, dated
June 10, 1853, conveying o traet of land to raise height of dam, ete.
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Treed recorded in Dook 194, page 127, of the deed records of Hammpden
Cottnty. ' ,
87, Deed from Fdward tugersoll and wite ta the Tnited States, dated

CMay 1-!, TH")} amveying toaere of lnud with privilege of erecting a

1’0“11(-:' .1;:,¢msu~ with ng,,hi,o: way, ete, Deed recorded in Book 198,

Jruage 153, of the deed records of H.wquiu: oty

88, Deed from Jobn Ashley and wite o the Tnited Stafes, dafed
June 2, 185, conveyhig L3S rods of Tnpd for o higlivay; slse o right
of way for a ree way, ete. Deed wecorded in Liber 199, t0lio 11, of the
déed records of Hampden County.

89, Deed from Horace Kibbe and wife to the {nited States, dated
Septewber 3, 18360, covveying o trach of Tand in Springfield with condi.
tions,  Brewl recorded in Book 205, page 4560, of the sleed records of
Hampden Conanty,

G40, Deed frowm B, B, Ladd of al, to ﬂxc TTnited States, datel July 16,
1863, conveying a right of way and privitege of laying condniis, ote
Deed recorded tn Bouk 224, page 212, of the deed rec wrds of 1-T:1uqnl(eu
(Jmm!).

01, Lease for niucty-nine ye AT, (Jit‘., {from Wenry 5, Fuller to the
United Statex, dated Tleeember 135, 156G, Im\mg it certain deseribad

tract of Tawd i Springliehl.  Lense re vnulul in Book 2849, puge 364, u!,'
the deed reverds of H.unpllf-u County,

02, Deed from Jumes 'L Ames and wite fo fhe Unifed bi'att‘s d.:tvd
Febyrinry 9, 1567, eonveviug a dract, of land dn Springtield. Deed
recorded in }}rml; 2L, page -f.‘--’»f.i._m" the sled reconds of Thanpden Connty,

93, Peed o Jones T Ames mnd wite o the Unifed States, dated
December 3, 1R63, conveying a fract of hund in Springfield. Deed

vecorded in ! Yook 280, page LS, of Lhe deed vecords of Emnmdvll( MY,

O, Dead frone 0K, Ladd snd wife to the United Hl(m’s, dated
Drecember 17, 1868, couveying o fract of Tand iy ‘-;::.n~£mh! C Prewl
recorded in Dok 10, pages 511,06 the dewl voeords of 11 rm;nuu: County,

95, Treed tyom ldwarnd 12, bh apin and wite to The United States, dhited
Jannury I8, 1864, 'wn\c.'\iw- 2 tract of lamd i Springicid. Deed
reconded in Thook Dot gpiige LT ol the desd records af Hhanpden Coonnty,

96. Deed from Charles Phe lps and wife fo the United Sades, dated
Augast 2, 1570, comverving 3 acores of nad and releare of giher interests,
Deed rvecordad in Book 274, puge 533, of the deed vecords ol Hampden
County.

For jurisdictionsee Vort Fudependence. See Appendix, pages 291, 202,

FORT SPANMSIL

This reservadion condaing an aven of 8.9 aeves, and is sitasded on
Saguigh Head af the Northern eatrance (o Plywomi b Hivbar, 4 miles
b)' waler from the ity of Plymeontly, jn 1 !ymnmh County, Tho titls
s us tllows: Doeed foom Sl Bastreess ef ull to the U Wited S thes,
dated Juune 10, 1870, conveying the renel cinbeaesd in ww'i‘..zt!rm
Beed verorded ju Book S, page T, o the Reglsiry off Deeds of Ply-

wonth County,  The .mmv }um}uke, neude by virtue of an act of

Congress approved Mareh 2, 1867,
For Jurisdietion see Forb Androw,

FORT WARREN,

This rescrvation eomtains an e of whout 23 aeres and inclndes the
whole of Georges Ixland, in Safolk County. It is sitoated near the
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APPENDIX B

AN 1884 VIEW OF THE SPRINGFIELD ARMORY
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This article, “Unitéd States Armory"” by Albert Kirkham, originally
published in King's Handbook of Springfield, is reproduced in full and pro-
vides an 1884 view of the Armory at Springfield, showing how at least one
writer saw the Armory in relation to the city. Of the four historical narra-
tives on the park currently available for use as interim interpretive sources--
the 1852 article in New Harper's Monthly Mogazmine, the Dvarecka article, the
Whittlesey dissertation, and Kirkham's article--this appears to be the most
immediately and easily useful. The other three sources are gvailable at the
museum.
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APPENDIX C

A REPORT OF EXAMINATION OF THE TREES AT SPRINGFIELD ARMORY,
' NOVEMBER 26, 1913
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Hov.26, 1913,

‘mr.Louis S. Murpky, e
orcst Eﬁuminer ' I ) o "'f

.;t; . S.Dept. of Agricultmrs, Forest Service,

% S

AR “nuhinoton 2.Ce : .
. [ R . ) . -t
Dear Siry el S ' o

"I have to'aekzowTedge the receipt of your very tiovvugn

end sz if“*“uo 7 Tepory of the eéam1nhtiOn made by vou ef
Za the r—aunds Jof *’13 A ovy in Ce toher lasﬁ, uo“e*“er WA h the.

inclo SUTe an uhe °uoject of t! cere of frees.

Ibur reuoru &nd t?a suggest*ons na&e tac*bln le ne of

raueraal azue to us cnd With the.

P ' - ".'- | L

as 55% enee- 80 of fOTaeﬁ I u}in?
I ehhll Ya eb*e rirfe) t*e ﬂ1_ c“ra'”o* our +“ecs in o mucb More

thsrcu and ef’ ct 7e n:nner +%“n nefcre., : -
fespec fully, ey
. '\ s ?-‘1 - ) .
. -..r" b . '

.7 Lw-Col., oxd. Dupbo, U.S.JL-‘

o":...nﬂﬁu.ng.
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LAl el o

, ing mo,.ning I v-mﬁ' um;er the grourxds wz.th the Firstv .Ser ant ‘

UNITED STAIES Uiranimeom: we L ST PT RN

L . . FOREST SERVICE
' WASHINGTON

g

Federal Cooperation, ) . " FNovember 10, ig 13,
'Snringfield. Armsrv JAZS Y- P e '_ ST
. R”*ﬁgv +: [ SPRINGEELD ARWoEy—1
¥R LT = RF‘C,E_i\J"'D
"‘I‘he_ Commanding Off‘icer, R § 1957 NOV 11 - { 1913

Spr:.nrrfield Amory, .
ol Springfleld J..J.ss.

Dehé Sir

AP
o

-; Rei‘erpnce ia made to your request tnrouah tne ?’ar

Depart.,e-': ’ commmicated to the Secretary of. Avricultur“ bv
‘he Acting Secrata.ry of X"a.r, Saptomber 9, th at the trees on

the grotmds of tn'-'- Sprl gfiel.i Armory .to the nwbﬂr of bmne

.. e ').

‘250 ‘ne:.e:ca.minnd oy a .ue:nber of thn "«"orest uerv:ce e.nd ‘recom-'
,4'-‘ . Cl "' : l wi

ng t‘hair fut.u:e ca:-:.. and cons ur\r'x_-'«‘

v

.M w‘.;.

.

A gene*al exa,;in.t on .va zm.de on tbe a.ftf'nmon

'\.‘-;1- -

b mle e
‘.O o

T e P .--—;'r - ‘|.— -—. 2y, ;'- ‘-a

',or my ’-‘-rival Oc ocsr 8 a.nd at your cs:equeat on :.ho follo

.J“i.-;. -,-‘ .‘.'

|,-.‘

n.‘_‘ et
P ot

faund ‘hat ’r.e‘al':nad'f had a3 good "*asu of how theat“n‘

. _-'\.e

. . - . . . st

nould e cared for znd t;.a.t he bad don° sorre good vro;k

consiaerine ‘the t*mn .and mesns at his dignosal I too'f the
opportiunity to po int out %o 111** --:hsrein' improvemert could

have been made in his treatment of sore of the trees and to

sugsest that_heconsulé in this_.connectinn the following

books, which I found to be in the -..\_p ingfield Public I‘lb.-.d.a.j.
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“cure of Trees in Id:n, oureet and Park" Ey B, E. Fernow-

and ”Shade Trees in chns and Cluies" by Willaam SOlOuarO fo

1 also nromiued to send buch pUbliCutiORS of the Dep“rtmunt
on the subgect as were ¢vailuble. Aside from the mimeographed 
avtwc‘a erclosed gqesh pave oeen requssLed from the Depn art-

ment and should reach you, in a week or- ten days' time,

Judgirg from my ccnversation v1th the Sergeunt he

is at more or less disadvhntage in carrV1ng on this work,

'Aside ’“om +1e rrnss of ouher duti :8 wnicn gzve him llttlez‘

i

'tlme to attcnd to tn s tree wcrk he ncntloned in particulsr

the Q_f4luu]tj 1n seou*ing corpetent men, - t ing the men

as thev'co £ to nlm L¢om day to day for fhtigue dutj ;men'f

P

_who can cllm and otherﬁise r_ndla themselves Jn the ‘tree ;7

The 1 lso of suitable ﬂna

teria;s'uo work with is a serious

-'— -\~

racter of tools best sulted tO';

‘ ‘r.-- |»"Jl T

iﬂe*ed in the publ*catkons I have men-

AP et e et -'.

t: oned and ke yaols can be secu*ed ffom any bardware dealer

r

- . e .

at 2 zam al exte“se.- ' S
I fully =zppreeizts that in the zatTer of'secur‘ng

- . -

cOmpetenf s n this is a dif;icultv wnzcs 15 experiereed in

EOR AL . Lt

21l 1¢nes of work at an army post wHere practicallv nll work
must te performod by fati abc:. Unle 5 it can be ar-
ranged to have certain uun whem thé‘Sergeant nay select de-

tailed to ithis work for suchk time each season as my sesp
o ' 128
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ol B Rl ol Rl T

' orre,” L*zrrove:zsn"

‘best and are verj sugcentlblc of demags by s

neceasary, X firmlr believe that more’ perm“nent and satige
factorj results can 'be ob ained by the tempouxry e'nplo_;mant
of suitu.ble civ:."l.,.ns or by turning over the work on contraoct

to some commercial uree specialist. I thznk you gan readily

understu.nd the iunoruance of having this wozk carc.ful‘;y and

_conszstentlj done boc use of the 1cn~th o*F‘ time which it. ta‘%:es-'

=

to replace trees destreved through 1mpropeﬁ care and the im-

possibility o*‘ repalrlne “heyon.‘ a ce*'t.a.:m limited degree den-

aﬂe re uluing ;rom tne oix of 1nefrlcinnt uﬁski]led-labor.
o 'I‘he Sergeant :Lnfor::.ed i3 th?t 1t alr;a._,rs bad been'

the policy not to cut trees mless thej were dead or nearly

L+

80. oura A, pol;.c_,r is undoubtedly the vai‘est in the long run

in the c.'osence m._‘_ tech n*cal advice or an.y fix ed rlan fo*‘ 'Lhe

and replaCQan+ of the trees on the

.g'-our"s. 'I‘his ‘Ar-in-vgs up a cordltlon h:.c.h. I should Jike

part :Lcula.r ly’ to cc...._end to vour cons 1 d erc.t jon.

"'-'I'ha t,.ecs on ke Avmory 51‘0141':6.5 have rc.achcd a

..s:é:t-attantis:-from ¥auT ip yaar. 'There are a large
nurber of'soft maples or the grounds which kave rzzched or -

alresdy pa snd th31r prim « These trees are short-lived at

ok

orms. They con-
séquentl& will not Justify thez expenditure of zny consider-
able zmount of money in the filling of cavities and cther

expensive rerair work to .rrescrve them. They will in most

129. ¢




cases,.with the careful trimming out of dead wood, surviis
for a 1onoer or shorter tim-; but eventually they will have
to be replac d by a new and vetter species. Some of the elmé
too are already in & condition whlch indicates the necesszty
for the1r early rﬁmoval. mrees. presuzably elms or maplea
_have already in mnny 1nstarc=s died and been cut out and .
th°ir plhce flIIEd bj other varlﬁties =uch 28 the ho“se- ’
chestnut h“v1ng enti ﬂly different baolts of form and grovth.
Should thlq hanh;éard ﬂethod bn continued the grcunds aould

nn-" .- e

become rost : ed and uns,ghtly in a“pea.dbce.

o look to the future

ould conSecuentlg reco~mend Jour e*

t and I

-,'.'»_a- . ot

curing uuthorltf Lrom tha War Eepa:tment for the prepurwtion

i

EIL SR VEPE fnf & *,-:,‘_\.-. see -

and ﬂxathio“ 'f a gene*al 1ﬂurove on* and repl«cement plan

_whioh weu f ecome t.e ps abllvn d noliuy of the post until‘

L LAY .y
oy ..., l K - _-A +

furtqe* Lechnicalf 1éibn or modificatzon =eemed nece ﬂary{
. - :l “ 5 L RN f.' ¥
prcceduﬁe ?culd be & 1crg st p xn —RVavc¢n3 the mnre

a"d lmproveEEﬂt of tha gvcunds at

Sucn a pizn as iq 5&5355:31 would comprise firsy

of 811 a racofd of ull tn trees now g*awﬁ“g on the reserva-

»ion or ac l~u5t hll th trees for mir g gn integral part of
the more regular and geocmetric portions of the shade and or-
namental schere. There must be harnony and symuetry through-

outv & given unit as along a certain édrive, or bordering the
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all Bl iatiel afiolieBalialialiall Xl

'treated in.an.,r a.y

paths and roads of a -q-_m.d"ra.'nrrle or fronting certain build-

dngs. It is not necessa.ry to have 211 one spec:.es‘ but

mix.tures,”vﬁlere trees are an*'ed in I‘O"IS a_re generally not

; con"‘uc...v“ to the best h_rmon_,r because of tn.e 'a.rlation.a of

dif:t‘erent ;ccxes in ha.blts of growih, fo"m of c“mm and

the lik... The tree record then 'vould coqtann a ertten

.

descrip ion of the sige and. cc"xu.ltzor‘ of each ‘uree as to i

- ,,. -

-SPGCJ.ES d:.s.meter (nreferably at brea st«h 1r:rht - 4-1 feet from

- .

i

th, g,round) total hn' ‘ t,-“ge eral con dltlcn of thrlft and ‘ ;

forn, '*::'n ther 1t nad been nrsvmusly -orured or o»herw;se
EERA - -v.._;_y : R R
c..nd *vqen a:!d J.ts p.»eoavzt nbeds, if any

. T oy
L3

u“plemc—:‘.‘;‘ed 'by a dlar‘ra.ua :La":n 1.0 A

a - '..."'l-

56"515; anowing the ‘exact lar-a ion of escn trec {lth rexer-_'

- FRR N BT .- A

-

encé Lo .,ny raa.aa pauhs . u).)din'rs 'or c,djc;ovnt t*ees.,

T‘r‘i"' e“ord and. cL. gr..:n

th'je' J pL et of :.1 ivi al treeﬂ"'

'.-,r‘ ---a" K -g.‘

now haalv defect.we an nd. tnose not 1n h,armony- "n th thc gcn-

" . t.l.. ..«.,.--—

eral o:n:unen..a.l..scne -] su;':h as the renJ c,..lent o:E' a. hoﬂ%e-
cnesInu by an 2l ia o wow oof zlsms. It woulad ala'\ in some

eoses provide for the gradual replacszent of all trnes of z

. . o o eem s - P -
oo ‘-_--n'-...-"-_,___'. . PR H ~aoe I

certain species, as ‘the soft maples, by, en thnr and rore
suitabls spcoies. It might e;“f’ect a2 readjustment of any ﬁew
growth with Le;ercnce to b“lnginn it into '-rea.ter hzrrmony
with certain buz.nc__nn-s roads or other 1mprov'ec.c.nts. A

second dlaaram on iracing hnsn oiBll"I’ in all essentizls

13




'to the first, would then be prepared showing the p'la.h in
firal readjustment and thus indi ca.te exactly what woulrl be
-'necessary to effect any given changes.

: “‘he recor.ling and locza,tmv of the trees could prob--
a’bly te done by your .rn' t Sergeant ir, then these were
to be ent to the xo*‘est Servic.,, 1t muld undouhtedly be

.por‘si'ble to b.,.ve tbe plan comleted at com#a_ratlvely llttle
expense." Uost of th° '.\ork could be done in the offzceb with

- probablv a short e\:ami*m. J.on on the ground to check up the

plzm ne"ore formully':.;ubmlttlmg it.-'

! Very tru ly yoursr

Enclosure.
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BERINCIFIELD _ARMORY.

J9s | AiE v ED
gﬁj‘, 5‘30‘-"'11 7 1913

PRUNING AND O._H.CAF" oF ODNALMNTAL TREZS

By Geo. B. Sudworth; Dendrologist; Forest Service

-,

Kinds,of Pruning'

In oruer o nb hin certain vefy'désirabie results

it 1s neﬂessary to prune uhade trees at stated periods, The

_necesaitles for ‘pruning sthe trees nay he divioed under

'three heads._'J':“

(a) Removal cf dead brancnes
(b) Removal of living brancnes for the purpose of
'"”‘relieving cncroachmpnt upon a ne&ghborzng

' uree

B

(c} Peaalngﬂ‘n or shoruenlng llmbs to produce

ew top vrcrth. Aho%g the common trees

..1

“wnich way require. ths treatment are"
nalnly poplars- villows silver me ﬁle,

sycamore, iocusts and tulip tree._

" Realing of Wounds

. s .
I3 is very irzoriant that {he wounds rafa in pruning

for a;l “uIJo es snoul neal % .:unp't'.l‘r in order: that the ex—

posed vood may be permanently covered end p*otected agdinst
r!

decay. Inls will be &ccompliahed best by cutting maples and

. birches during Octover, November, and Decerber, and other trees
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crom November to April. Tounds rade later will lose a2 full sea-
aonfs healing growth. Maples and birches are pruned in fall and
Vwinter months to avéid the flovy of aap fnom the wounds, Exposed
wood saturated with sweet, fermantnble sap is tner nost subJect
to decsay. haples and birches can, however, be pruned snfely at
any time nfter the 1eavea are full grovm. This will vary, ac—

cordinr to t1e region f“om zbout lizrch uo June. It should be
done as. soon as posuibxc after this full growth, so as not to
1ose much of tne season's growth for healing over the wounds.
e m‘;ﬁ. U . L _ ~

. - . . ) " . .-..:‘ T -

fthnner of Pruning

Limbs destinﬂd to ‘be removed entirsly sqohld be cut

;closn to tne trunk or other po int of origin. The obgects of

"-.. ’

closo cu*ting are to 1nsure Tirst, r°nid herling of the wound
and, second a'ﬁrooth shapely frari, In tebing off 11“bs of

considcrnbla 51ze an Lnder cut should 41 ays be m&de flrst iﬁ
order to Trefenk t"cm from %plit ing of’ sl1vers of bwrk *nd .
wood li-a the'trunk. ”He main body of very heavy 11mbs ahoulﬁ'
be cut cxf at a poi A vevaral fegt from the trunk, after which

L

G~es+uo Con %e arnuuated without spiitting'or Ounerwise damag—

. ) . . . - 1y
1, b — - o
ing the .v*nk. Tre surfrce of the wound should be brought in
-2 - —n . - b — h & o nY - - L Fal T s
line wiis she general cutling of the trunk., I the surfacs o1

the cut is even s cuarter or half zn inch daepe“ than this, so
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mgmEREARE T s

mech the vetter., No rains should be spared to make the cut at
{éési even with the tyunk outline, The ;ﬁrface of.the cut
;hould bé Ieft smoo?h, all ranﬂedness beinr renoved with a
éh,rp Imife, éhisel, or other instrument.

- Uﬁder no circumétences should protruding stubs of
1imbs be left, They_give an unsightly appearance to the tiunky
end 2t most they mill be only purtly, or very rarely healed
over, even afte“ mo nJ yeers., Tae exposed_WOOd will admiu de-
cay'to tne nterlor of tle t.unk. oooner or later this will
seriously waaken or destroy the tree. Gloaely bruned branches
vheal over p}omptly and‘completely, g;#ins.a smooth, shapely
form to ihe trunk and affording perfect protection against
decay. - ":" . .; . o
In pruning uprigit branchés Tor toﬁ growtﬁ'fheading-
in) slgn*ing outs shouid alweys be made in Dlace of norizontal

culs, whizh are dif7lzult to protect a”ainst decay, because

water is llkely to remain on such fur;mceu.-

 Vhat to Prune

L2Terense 1s omndlz uader "Kinds n’ Pruning” to the

neceksitizo for pruning: (2} all dezd branches; (b)) such

11Ving brenches as nowld he removed entlrely, or 3hortcnnd

to reliieve injurlous encroachment unon ncmgnoorlng trees, or
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Tor Leening the tree rithin proper bounds, {c) heading-in to
sacure nev top grouth. . . --. '
7 Proper observance of these requi*ements does not in-~
:clude the cutting of living brarcaes for any other Durposzes.,
Likewise,'it does not 4uc.vﬂn'°t*ipping small, legfy twigs
from trunks and 1ar7e liabs of oaks, maples, elms, sycamorus,
etc,, Tor the sake of "letting the air into the crown® or of
saving the vitality of the tree, otc. Occaéionﬁlly there is-
necessity of tainning out crovm branches Tor the sake of giv~
ing better propqrt;on to the erown and for some other rurposes,
;Eefqré pruning ﬁé relieve tiie encroachment of one
@ree upon Eﬁbt‘z4, the future and parpanent’ value of tne trees
concerned should be most GEVELully considered., Not infrequentlf
the natural beau+y of a lo.ﬂ~lived and very valuable tree has
been de:troyed by senseless cutting 1n order to p“eserve 1ntact
sonz compara tlve;y northlnss shoprt- lived naignboring tree.
Shori-lived and otherwlse inferior trees, such as poplars,
stiver hanles, ete., should aiways e sadr@ficgd to preserve

in g00% form sush long-llved trzes =zs oaks, sugar maples,

[a}]
:
A

L

¥
LAt
{

:
o
e

- -

norula); sarfesily Tormed pines, épruces; and
other conifers choull bhe shrred and encroaching broad-leafed
trees severely pruned, or even cut out, vhenever these two

clessss of irees are crowdling each other too much,
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Protection of lfew Vounds

4
-

All wounds should be protectied against dscay by a
thorough coating of lead paint or t§r. These Qrcscrvatives
aie 595@ applied three or four da&s, 6r a vweek, aﬂte} the
cutting, vhich will allew the surf ce of the wound t§ dry
out sufficiently to absorb the paint or tar effectively, In
éxdeptigﬁal cases wéunds may be painted imme&iately aftier
cutting, particﬁlarly'when to do it later would necessitate
dangerous reclimbing of a tree;"Lafge wounds should'be care-
ﬁlly inspected 1"?‘0&1 }',fea-r- te year and"\';el'l paintéd .or tarr.ed.,
unt1l théy éfé conpletely healed over, Cracks and deep seans

are li?ely to annear'on itne face of the large wounds bafore

' they are Healed ove., and these especirlly should be carefully

£illed wlth_paint er tar to keeﬁ'waier out.

Sgre of 0ld Younds

-

ueﬁlecue hnhealec vounds ~the unsigntly reau1ts of

., . . =

bad brLALﬂP, emceeuiugly cormbdn in s»reet wnd narP treeu, ﬁar

te grentlyv improved in appearsncs and the 1life of many trees
longel, By ;udi?iaus *restment.,  Daad, prct{uii:g
stubs suld e cut of; close to the trunk and deep 1nto the
living wood, 1f necessary to bring_tha’sufface of the cut cven

with the outline of the trunk. No permanent harm will be done
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to the- tree by the severe cutting recommended On the contrafy,
the deep cut increases ﬁany times the chanueu of rapid end com=
: plete healing. Large nounds with decayed centers or exposed
nyeltles qhnan be cleared of rotted wood: aown to the sound tis-
- sues. Yo pains should be spared to go as far as possible above
and below the opening iﬁ.taking oul decayed vood. 1In order to
accomplish this it is permissible to enlarge the opening, but
preferably upmard or do“nhard rather than maklng it wider. In
clcanin; out the cavity, mhxch is later to be filled with
cement, 1t shpuld be given a retalning ;orm, ‘so that cenment
£111ing will be held theré rirmly. | |
. After tne sur face of the cav1uy has becowe moderatbly
drf;‘if should be p*otecte” from Purtn decay by a tno“ougn '
coating cf coal tar, wpitch, creosote, or - lead’ paint. Tar, pitch,
or creoscie are pre ?er?bl“ to paint as- they will prevent the en—~
trence of aod bor-;g znd other wood~infest1ng iusecte The tar
or piteh should be =azp ied hot and in a generous “cont. After
drying for a day or two, the cavity may then de filled_with
cemént, the finishing coat of which may be colored to approxi-
mate as veirly asg Dossible the color of the surrSunding trunk
bark, Isok gray tints are produced Py addins =nmpslzck when
the cpme it is being rnixed. Properly tinted paint con e ap-—

Plied, 17 need be, to the finished cement in order %0 1mit3te

more exz22ily the surrounding bark.

138

r
9
'
X
)
]
i
J,
|
|
Ili
1
t
|
!
<
| |




R R R b

Snnll éavities éan be filled entirely wi?h a mixture
of ocnz part Portl 1d camant 9rd tvo pa;ts o gharp, clean sand,
The main parts of very 1arge cavities are best Tilled to mluvin
ihree or fourrincheé of tite suriface with 5 mixiure of'two barts
Port‘v . cament @nd five parts grovel. Thenever possible, this

mixture °hou1u b2 run into the qavi%y'in half'liqugd form,

t“* Tour or five days it will be thoroughly set, wvhen the

‘finishiﬁg mizture of sond and ceuent can be spplied. A great

deal of Ing nuity is rooﬂ red to menage the filling in some

cavities. Slane, sack-1ikes holes are easily repaired. Cav-

ities ?31:& &o above and below an opening are difficult to

fill co'“lntely at one time with the c0arse L,rout In vare

cases baod judgmcnu nirﬂt justify cutting s hole at the toa'

of such =& cavity to pe mit slushing in the coarsa fi lllng

entirel:y from abova T

The fih_a ~ing coal of cemne t snould be arou~ﬁt ‘out

;

to witain only ab ut ons ~ha1; 1o trr ee~fonrtnﬂ of an incn of

the surfzce oi tne Sark - never flush.with it._ ¥nen fini;?ed

1
even wiin the bark, the healing growth about the borde“ of thae

wole ma:t osush gpgainst the cement and necessarily break it

e perziitiing water to entar the cavity. “mem ths camant

serk ths new healing grovtn cloces ovar the surface of the

cement,
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fTﬁé greatest care shoﬁld be taken to finish the
cement fillinv 30 that it will be tignt in all places about
'the hox dnr.' It is necessary also to 1nspect Tilled cavitles
f“om.,ear to year and to keep them $u11y rebaired. Some
“treated cavitles w111 ~equ1re 11 1€ or no attent:dn fér_
several years, Vnile othe"s bec ause th ir po éili&n sub-
ﬁedts ?hém to strain {(through the bending or swaying of the
'frunk}, are likqu to requiré_a_gooi deal of &#téﬁtiqn to

kesp tran tight.

“Replocing Useless Trees

: ﬁi&, decfepiﬁ; and stbfmréaﬁ. ed or otherwiqe bro?cn'
‘tréés are of;en 50 unsightly and S0 diqfigured as to be bejond
récuperatioﬁ,ra;tsﬁu they may be capaole of 11v1ng in this
1r@erfnct éﬁhéiticn for a long timg.. Thé ﬁrevcnt and tur'

gobd.appcaranceﬂaf rost Iarns parks, and qtreebs requirLS'

thet 211 such uselass trees b’ 1ep1ac&d bv sultable young

-1 u‘:
.

sirenc in faver of saving . old t?ees,_ghguld, hovever, alwaYs

be io_sowed in considering ike dicposal of histericelly im-
pbrtant grees.‘ Even & ﬁ;di§.disfih'fed.éld tree;_"ﬁlcq re.ris
ezrly s2itlzment or som e other local Eiéioric evént, may glve
‘far rore pleasure to its owner or to the commnity which knows
its nistory, than a young tree in its place. Everythind should

bYe “onz to imnrove ihe oppesrance of such irees end to proleng

their lives.
14_0
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APPENDIX D
"THE SPRINGFIELD ARMORY. CHAPTER 9., SUMMARY AND PROSPECTUS,"

EXTRACT FROM DERWENT WHITTLESEY, Ph.D. DISSERTATION--
"SPRINGFIELD ARMORY"
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THE SPRINGFIELD ARMORY.

Chapter 9. SUMMARY AND PROSPECTUS.

Estimate of A just evaluation of the contribution which the Springfield
the Armory's - Armory has made to the national life of the United States de-
Amportance. mands viewing the institution from a number of different angles.

First of all, has the Armory served the primary purpose of its
establishment, viz. supply with arms the armies of the United States in time
of war? Constant manufacture during years of peace has accumulated a surplus
which could be drawn upon in case of emergency; a. fact of utmost importance in
a country which possesses so small a regular army as does the United States.
The existence of a permanent plant where arms were being manufactured created
a skilled labor supply, without which war time manufacture would be greatly
impeded, if, indeed, it could be carried on.at all. The existence of this
labor supply encouraged and aided private arms manufacturers to undertake
their ventures, which in turn could be expanded to meet wartime needs. The
Springfield plant itself, has 'In every emergency proved itself flexible beyond
expectation, and while unable to supply the total wants of thé armies, has
expanded its production capacity several fold within a. few months.- On the
whole, therefore, the Armory appears to have served the country well in making
provision for war.

.In the second place, had the Armory been of value to the Army
in peace times, and particularly, has it advanced or impeded progress in the
military life of the nation? Obviously, it has supplied the bulk of the
muskets and rifles used by the Regular Army, for more than half its period of
existence, and it did its share even before the abandonment of the Harper's
Ferry plant. It could have furnished all the arms.needed in times of peace
had not policy determined to encourage not one, but several centers of arms
manufacture within the country. A greater service, and perhaps the greatest,

‘was the uninterrupted series of improvements which were made to the finished

product and to the processes of manufacture. It may be said that improvements
were bound to take place in any event, but nevertheless, the fact that the
Armory existed, independent of the economic law of profits, made it possible

‘for workmen and Army officers to experiment with improvements and to have them

given practical trial, at no cost to themselves. Once an improvement was
adopted in the Armory, it was necessary for all competing manufacturers to
introduce it in order to keep government contracts, and thus the level of the
product was rapidly raised. Furthermore, the standard, once established,
could be maintained thru any economic law. When, for instance, private con-
tractors were tempted to increase their bids or to reduce the quality of the
product, the Springfield arm remained constant in quality and cost was given
‘only secondary consideration. '
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In the third place, what has been the importance of the Armory
in the industrial lifé of the nation? A complete answer to.this question
demands a more intensive study of industrial history than has yet been made.
Nevertheless, the principal role which the Armory took in developing a high
type of manufacturing conditions and in furthering the idea and the practice
of interchangeability of parts in large-scale manufacture, are two. evidences
that its rank in such ah industrial history would be high.

Finally, what has been the effect of the plant on the community
in which it stands? Without the Armory, Springfield was destined to become a
transportation center, and the coming of railroads would have brought with
them commercial and perhaps industrial development of the place. The char-
acter of the city's industrialism, and the nature of the commodities- produced

"has however been largely determined by the activities of the Armory. Highly

skilled labor, producing fine grade steel goods, has given Springfield an
economic life which has fewer drawbacks than that of most industrial cities.
On the social side, the effect had been even more pronounced. The Armory
effected an interweaving of the pioneer aristocratic New England with the
later industrial New England, which is rare, if not unique. As a consequence
Springfield is néither a sleepy village resting on its past glories, nor is it

" a coarse factory town, conspicuous for its slums and tired workers. It is a

vital, vigorous, and thriving city, in which education, art, and pleasant
living are emphasized. .

The Outlook. With such 4 record of achievement, what of the future of the
Armory? This question can be answered only from a standpoint which considers
the institution in its enviromment. The unpreparedness of 1917 gave rise to
and justified comprehensive plans for the future protection and defense of the
United States. Two of these projects deserve brief consideration, in so far
as they affect the status of the Springfield Armory. .

_ The first of these, considering the United States as a military
unit, holds that no establishment where materials of war are manufactured
shall be less than [twol hundred miles from the frontier. This is based on
the sound principle that such plants, unless comparatively immune from attack
by a foreign enemy, are liabilities rather than assets. The second, viewing
conditions as they are, contemplates additions to the physical plant at
Springfield which will make it the "Grand National Establishment" of which
Col. Lee dreamed. No decision as to which scheme possesses the greater merit
can be reached without considering history. The disadvantages of Springfield
are several and serious. The place has lost that secure inland position which
led to its selection for a Revolutionary supply depot. Supra. p. - The plant

is awkwardly divided, difficult and costly to guard, unsatisfactorily supplied

with water power, and at a distance from sources of coal. Besides, its rail-
road facilities are inadequate, and will of necessity remain so. None of
these drawbacks can be overcome, and the land which the government occupies
would turn a pretty penny in the market, and enhances in value year by year.
There are, however, compensating advantages.  Buildings and equipment, such as
they are, already exist, and the expense of additions would be much less than
the construction of an altogether new plant of comparable size. The Armory
has made Springfield a center of gunsmithing, so that adequately trained labor

143




can be had in that vicinity more easily than elsewhere in the United States.
One of the chief difficulties in manufacturing arms at the Rock -Island (I11.)
Arsenal, is sald to be the impossibility of secuting enough of the right kind
of labor. More important still, the strife and travail of more than a century
have placed their stamp upon both the armory and the city.in which it is
located. ‘Fradition, that mocker of wisdom and of efficiency, has metamor-
phosed the plant from a factory to an institution. There is more than superb
mechanical skill in the Springfield Rifle - love and pride and patriotism have
been milled and turned and forged into it. Such qualities as these can not be
produced by fine, up-to-date factory buildings, safely located in the heart of
America. They are part and parcel of the dignified, not too efficient,
patient, fond toil of generation after generatlon of self-respecting workers
They cannot be transplanted.

In short, the town has ﬁOulded the Armory, and has by the

- Armory been moulded in turn. To divorce them would be to sacrifice their
joint history.
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As the nation's pr‘incipai'_conserVation aéency, ‘the Department of the
" Interior has basic responsibilities to protect and .conserve our land and

water, energy and minerais, fish and wiidlife, parks and recreation

"are‘as_, and to  ensure the wise use of all these resources: The

department also has major responsibility for American Indian reservation
communities and for people who live in .isiand territories under U.S.
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